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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

 
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended

(the "Securities Act"), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), which statements involve substantial risks
and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including statements regarding our
financial position; our ability to continue our business as a going concern; our business, sales, and marketing strategies and plans; our ability to successfully
market, sell, and deliver our INTRUSION Shield commercial product and solutions to an expanding customer base; are forward-looking statements. In some
cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as "anticipate," "believe," "contemplate," "continue," "could," "estimate,"
"expect," "intend," "may," "plan," "potential," "predict," "project," "should," "target," "will," or "would" or the negative of these words or other similar terms or
expressions. Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, but are not limited to, such statements.

 
You should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this

Annual Report on Form 10-K primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business,
financial condition, and operating results. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks, uncertainties, and other
factors described in the section titled "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

 
In addition, statements that "we believe" and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based on

information available to us as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. While we believe that such information provides a reasonable basis for these
statements, that information may be limited or incomplete. Our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or
review of, all relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain, and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely on these statements.

 
The forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We

undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to reflect events or circumstances after the date of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law.
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PART I

 
Item 1. Business.
 
Our Corporate Information
 

We were organized in Texas in September 1983 and reincorporated in Delaware in October 1995. Our principal executive offices are located at 101
East Park Boulevard, Suite 1200, Plano, Texas 75074, and our telephone number is (972) 234-6400. Our website URL is www.intrusion.com. We post the
following filings in the “Investors” section of our website as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities
and Exchange Commission: our Annual Reports on Form 10-K; our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q; our current reports on Form 8-K; and any amendments to
those reports or statements filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. All such filings on our website are available free of
charge. Additionally, filings are available on the Securities and Exchange Commission’s website (www.sec.gov). In this report, references to the “Company,”
“we”, “us,” “our”, “Intrusion” or “Intrusion Inc.” refer to Intrusion Inc. and its subsidiaries. TraceCop and Savant are registered trademarks of the Company.
We have also applied for trademark protection for INTRUSION Shield.

 
Our Business

 
Intrusion, Inc. is a cybersecurity company based in Plano, Texas. The company offers its customers access to its exclusive threat intelligence database

containing the historical data, known associations, and reputational behavior of over 8.5 billion Internet Protocol (“IP”) addresses. After years of gathering
global internet intelligence and working exclusively with government entities, the company released its first commercial product in 2021.

 
Our Solutions
 
INTRUSION Shield™

 
INTRUSION Shield, our newest cybersecurity solution is a Zero Trust reputation-based Security-as-a-Service (“SaaS”) solution that inspects and

kills dangerous network (in and outbound) connections. What makes our approach unique is that INTRUSION Shield evaluates every packet and analyzes the
IP addresses (source and destination), as well as domain information and the ports utilized and, when combined with other threat intelligence data reports,
blocks malicious connections. Many breaches today are caused by Zero-Day and malware free compromises that may not trigger alarms in a traditional firewall
or endpoint solution. INTRUSION Shield’s capabilities are designed to continuously evolve as the threats and landscape change over time. Unlike traditional
industry approaches that rely heavily on signatures, complex rules, and human factors mitigation, which malicious actors and nation states have learned to
bypass, INTRUSION Shield’s proprietary architecture isolates and neutralizes malicious traffic and network flows that existing solutions are ill equipped to
handle.

 
In September 2022, we expanded the INTRUSION Shield product line to include the Shield Cloud and Shield End-Point solutions. The initial

INTRUSION Shield offering released in early 2021, the Shield On-Premise solution, utilizes hardware and is placed behind a firewall in a data center. Shield
Cloud extends the effectiveness of the Shield On-Premise solution to Infrastructure as a Service (IaaS), Platform as a Service (PaaS), SaaS and serverless
resources in the public cloud. This product serves as a protective gateway to the cloud, providing both Zero Trust access to, and protecting outbound
connections from, virtual hosts and serverless functions within the cloud. Shield Endpoint helps protect the network outside of the corporate enclave and data
center to include protection for remote workers, mobile, and cloud devices. This product brings the network protection of the Shield On-Premise to these
remote user devices establishing a Zero Trust network, both for intra-organization connectivity and external internet connectivity.

 
 
 

  1  



 

 
INTRUSION TraceCop®

 
INTRUSION TraceCop is a big data tool with extensive IP intelligence canvassing the entire internet. It contains what we believe to be the largest

existing repository of reputation information on known good and known bad active IP addresses (both IPv4 and IPv6). TraceCop contains an inventory of
network selectors and enrichments useful to support forensic investigations. The data contains a history of IPv4 and IPv6 block allocations and transfers,
historical mappings of IP addresses to Autonomous Systems (ASNs) as observed through BGP, and approximately one billion historically registered domain
names and registration context. TraceCop contains tens of billions of historic DNS resolutions of Fully Qualified Domain Names (FQDNs or hostnames) on
each of these domains. Together, the resulting data shows relationships, hosting, and attribution for internet resources. TraceCop  also contains web server
surveys of content, such as natural language and topic of the content on hundreds of millions of websites and servers and OS fingerprints of services showing
applications running on a given IP address. TraceCop also contains a history of threat and reputation for each hostname and IP address over time. All these
features combine to create a very effective network forensics and cybersecurity analysis tool.

 
INTRUSION Savant®
 

INTRUSION Savant is a network monitoring solution that leverages the rich data available in TraceCop to identify suspicious traffic in real-time.
Savant uses several original patents to uniquely characterize and record all network flows. Savant is a network reconnaissance and attack analysis tool used by
forensic analysts in the DoD, Federal Government, and corporations with in-house threat research teams. For example, Savant users can create various
automated rules to inspect packets matching (or not) certain criteria such as creating a rule to ensure the Source MAC address field in the Ethernet header and
Source IP address from the IP header are always the same, failing which could indicate MAC or IP Spoofing in progress. Similarly, threat investigators can
create rules using regular expressions to analyze multiple fields in the packet headers.

 
Our Intellectual Property and Licenses
 

Our success and our ability to compete are primarily dependent upon our proprietary technology. We principally rely on a combination of contractual
rights, trade secrets and copyright laws to establish and protect our proprietary rights in our solutions. In addition, we have received two patents, and we have
applied for patents for our INTRUSION Shield family of solutions. We have also entered into non-disclosure agreements with our suppliers, resellers, and
certain customers to limit access to and disclosure of our proprietary information. There can be no assurance that the steps taken by us to protect our intellectual
property will be adequate to prevent misappropriation of our technology or that our competitors will not independently develop technologies that are
substantially equivalent or superior to our technology, although it would be extremely difficult to replicate the proprietary and comprehensive internet
databases we have developed over the past 26 years.
 

We have entered into software and solution license agreements with various suppliers. These license agreements provide us with additional software
and hardware components that add value to our cybersecurity solutions. These license agreements do not provide proprietary rights that are unique or exclusive
to us and are generally available to other parties on the same or similar terms and conditions, subject to payment of applicable license fees and royalties. We do
not consider any of the solution license, software, or supplier agreements to be material to our business, instead, they are complementary to our business and
offerings.
 
Our Competition
 

The market for network and data protection security solutions is intensely competitive and subject to frequent introductions of new technologies, and
potentially improved price and performance characteristics. Industry suppliers compete in areas such as conformity to existing and emerging industry
standards, interoperability with networking and other cybersecurity solutions, management and security capabilities, performance, price, ease of use,
scalability, reliability, flexibility, features and technical support. Our principal competitors in the data mining and advanced persistent threat market include
Niksun, NetScout, and Darktrace.
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There are numerous companies competing in various segments of the data security market. At this time, we have little or no competitors for

TraceCop; however, we believe competitors could emerge in the future. These competitors currently perform only a portion of the functions that we can
perform with TraceCop. We have been continuously collecting the TraceCop data for more than twenty years, and we believe that none of our current or future
competitors will have the ability to provide and reference this historical data. In our newest market segment, data mining and advanced persistent threat
detection, we compete directly and indirectly with companies and open-source technologies in the firewall, intrusion detection and prevention, anti-virus,
network analysis, endpoint protection, and insider threat prevention areas of cybersecurity technology.

 
We believe the INTRUSION Shield product line is novel and unique in our industry because of our proprietary threat-enriched big data. We believe

that our INTRUSION Shield family of solutions complement our customer’s existing cybersecurity processes and third-party solutions. If the INTRUSION
Shield receives widespread acceptance in the market, we anticipate that other businesses will seek to compete with INTRUSION Shield; however, we believe
our existing, mature, and proprietary database which is integral to the operation of INTRUSION Shield will be difficult, if not impossible, for other companies
in our industry to replicate and will be a significant barrier to entry of competitors in the near- and long-term future of cyber security solutions.
 
Our Customers: Government Sales
 

Sales to U.S. government customers accounted for 65.8% of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to 71.4% of our revenue
in 2021. We expect to continue to derive a substantial portion of our revenues from sales to governmental entities in the future as we continue to market our
products and data mining products to the government, and we intend to market INTRUSION Shield not only to our long-standing governmental customer base
but to expand our efforts to include more traditionally administrative and civilian governmental entities. Sales to government clients present risks in addition to
those involved in sales to commercial customers that could adversely affect our revenues, including potential disruption due to irregularities in or interruptions
to appropriation and spending patterns, delays in approving a federal budget and the government’s reservation of the right to cancel contracts and purchase
orders for its convenience.
 

We make our sales under purchase orders and contracts. Our customers, including government customers, may cancel their orders or contracts with
little or no prior notice and without penalty. Although we transact business with various government entities, we believe that the cancellation of any order in
itself could have a material adverse effect on our financial results. Because we derive and expect to continue to derive a substantial portion of our revenue from
sales to government entities, a large number of cancelled or renegotiated government orders or contracts could have a material adverse effect on our financial
results.

 
Third-Party Products
 

We currently utilize commercially available computers and servers from various vendors which we integrate with our software products for
implementation into our customer networks. We do not consider any of these third party relationships to be material to the Company’s business or results of
operations.
 
Customer Services
 

Our solution sales may include installation, operation of our technology and threat data interpretation and reporting.
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Sales, Marketing and Customers
 

Field Sales Force. Our sales organization focuses on major account sales, channel partners including distributors, value added resellers (VARs) and
integrators; promotes our solutions to current and potential customers; and monitors evolving customer requirements. The field sales and technical support
force provides training and technical support to our resellers and end users and assists our customers in designing cyber secure data networking solutions. We
currently conduct sales and marketing efforts from our principal office in Plano, Texas.

 
Resellers. Resellers such as domestic and international system integrators and VARs sell our solutions as stand-alone solutions to end users and

integrate our solutions with products sold by other vendors into network security systems that are sold to end users. Our field sales force and technical support
organization provide support to these resellers. Our agreements with resellers are non-exclusive, and our resellers generally sell other products and solutions
that may compete with our solutions. Resellers may place higher priority on products or solutions of other suppliers who are larger and have more name
recognition, and there can be no assurance that resellers will continue to sell and support our solutions.
 

Foreign Sales. Export sales did not account for any revenue in 2022 and 2021.
 

Marketing. We have implemented several methods to market our solutions, including participation in trade shows and seminars, distribution of sales
literature and solution specifications and ongoing communication with our resellers and installed base of end-user customers.
 

Customers. Our end-user customers include United States (“U.S”) federal government, state and local government entities, large and diversified
conglomerates, and manufacturing entities. Sales to certain customers and groups of customers can be impacted by seasonal capital expenditure approval
cycles, and sales to customers within certain geographic regions can be subject to seasonal fluctuations in demand.
 

In 2022, 65.8% of our revenue was derived from a variety of U.S. government entities through direct sales and indirectly through system integrators
and resellers. These sales are attributable to seven U.S. Government customers through direct and indirect channels; three U.S government customers
individually exceeded 10% of total revenue in 2022. A reduction in our sales to U.S. government entities could have a material adverse effect on our business
and operating results if not replaced.
 

Backlog. We believe that only a small portion of our order backlog is non-cancelable, and that the dollar amount associated with the non-cancelable
portion is immaterial. Commercial orders are generally fulfilled within two days to two weeks following receipt of an order. Certain orders may be scheduled
over several months, generally not exceeding one year.
 

Customer Support, Service and Warranty. We service, repair, and provide technical support for our solutions. Our field sales and technical support
force works closely with resellers and end-user customers on-site and by telephone to assist with pre- and post- sales support services such as network security
design, system installation and technical consulting. By working closely with our customers, our employees increase their understanding of end-user
requirements and are then able to provide specific input in our solution development process.
 

We warrant all our solutions against defects in materials and workmanship for periods ranging from 90 days to 36 months. Before and after expiration
of the solution warranty period, we offer both on-site and factory-based support, parts replacement, and repair services. Extended warranty services are
separately invoiced on a time and materials basis or under an annual maintenance contract.
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Employees
 

As of December 31, 2022, we employed a total of sixty-seven persons, four of which are part time. None of our employees are represented by a labor
organization, and we are not a party to any collective bargaining agreement. Competition in the recruiting of personnel in the networking and data security
industry is intense. We believe that our future success will depend in part on our continued ability to hire, motivate and retain qualified management, sales,
marketing, and technical personnel.

 
Our Code of Conduct
 

The Company’s directors and employees are required to abide by the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which the Company adopted
on September 14, 2020 (the “Code”) to ensure that the Company’s business is conducted in a consistently legal and ethical manner and to avoid instances of
insider trading. The Code cover areas of professional conduct that include conflicts of interest, fair dealing and the strict adherence to all laws and regulations
applicable to the conduct of the Company’s business.
 

On March 16, 2022, our board of directors, upon recommendation of our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, approved the following
sentences to be added under the “Conflicts of Interest” section of the Company’s Code: “Any and all actual, perceived, or possible Conflicts of Interest
involving either the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer shall be submitted in writing by a Company Agent to the Company’s Board Chair.
The Chair will then be charged with addressing the Conflict of Interest, or with presenting the matter to the full Board for consideration, in accordance with the
Company’s policies including those regarding ‘related party transactions,’ with the ultimate goal of avoiding even the ‘hint of impropriety’ in the Company’s
business dealings.”

 
The full text of the amended Code is published on the Company’s website under the investor relations tab at www.intrusion.com. The Company

intends to disclose future amendments to, or waivers from, certain provisions of the Codes of Ethics on the Company’s website within four business days
following the date of such amendment or waiver. Upon the written request of any stockholder, the Company will furnish, without charge, a copy of the Code.
This request should be directed to the Company’s Secretary at 101 East Park Blvd., Suite 1200, Plano, TX 75074.

 
Item 1A. Risk Factors
 

The following are the significant factors that could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, or operating results, as well as
adversely affect the value of an investment in our common stock. The risks described below are not the only risks facing our Company. Risks and uncertainties
not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and operating
results.
 
Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Liquidity
 
The Company’s ability to implement its current business plan is dependent on our ability to raise additional funds through additional public or private
financings, which raises the possibility that the Company may not be able to continue as a going concern. 

 
As of December 31, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of $3.0 million and negative working capital of $7.8 million. Our primary source of cash

for funding operations and growth in 2022 has come from net proceeds received from the issuance of notes payable, net proceeds received from our registered
direct offering and from our at-the-market program in an aggregate amount of approximately $15.6 million. To finance our operations and to continue as a
going concern, we believe it will be necessary for us to raise additional funds through public or private financings, including the utilization of our at-the-market
program. We can provide no assurances that we will be able to raise additional funds through any future equity or debt financings, and the terms of those
financings, if available at all, may be on terms, which are not favorable to us and, in the case of equity financings, will result in dilution to our stockholders.
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We are subject to certain contractual and regulatory limitations on our ability to consummate future financings.
 

Pursuant to that certain securities purchase agreement we entered into in March 2022 with to Streeterville Capital, LLC and related issuance of two
promissory notes, we agreed to be subject to certain restrictions on our ability to issue securities during the term of the notes issued under the agreement.
Specifically, we agreed to obtain Streeterville Capital’s consent prior to issuing any debt securities or certain equity securities where the pricing of such equity
securities is tied to the public trading price of our common stock. Furthermore, we also must offer Streeterville with the right to purchase up to 10% of future
equity and debt securities offerings, subject to certain exceptions and limitations, in each case during the term of any note issued to Streeterville.

 
Furthermore, unless our public float exceeds $75 million, we will be subject to the restrictions set forth in General Instruction I.B.6 to Form S-3 that

limit our ability to conduct primary offerings under a Form S-3 registration statement. Under such limitations, we may not sell, during any 12-month period,
securities on Form S-3 having an aggregate market value of more than one-third of our public float. As of March 24, 2023, our public float calculated in
accordance with General Instruction I.B.6 of Form S-3 was $28.7 million. These restrictions may delay or prevent us from entering into funding arrangements
or being able to access the capital markets, including under our at-the-market program, on favorable terms or at all.

 
We may be unable to generate sufficient cash to service our indebtedness.
 

Our ability to make scheduled payments on or to refinance our indebtedness and financial commitments to the noteholder under the convertible notes
issued under our March 2022 securities purchase agreement depends on our financial condition and operating performance, which are subject to prevailing
economic and competitive conditions including financial, business, and other factors beyond our control. The notes mature on September 10, 2023, and
December 29, 2023. We may be unable to generate sufficient cash flow to permit us to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on that indebtedness
which would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

 
The terms of our March 2022 securities purchase agreement contain significant obligations and limitations that could restrict our right to enter into
transactions that would otherwise be favorable to our stockholders.
 

Our debt agreements contain a number of significant covenants, including the obligations to not issue debt securities or certain equity securities where
the pricing of such equity securities is tied to the public trading price of the Common Stock, in each case, without the noteholder’s prior consent, and offer the
noteholder the right to purchase up to 10% of future equity and debt securities offerings, subject to certain exceptions and limitations. These obligations and
limitations may limit our ability to enter into certain, corporate, financing, operational or capital raising transactions.

 
If we fail to comply with the restrictions and covenants in our March 2022 securities purchase agreement, there could be an event of default under the
convertible notes issued thereunder, which could result in an acceleration of payments due under those notes and other consequences.

 
Failure to meet the restrictions, obligations, and limitations under the March 2022 securities purchase agreement may result in an event of default in

accordance with the terms of the convertible notes issued thereunder. An event of default would, among other things, provide the noteholder with the right to
increase the outstanding balance by 15% for certain major events of default and 5% for others. Additionally, upon an event of default, the noteholder may
consider the convertible note immediately due and payable. Furthermore, upon an event of default, the interest rate may also be increased to the lesser of 18%
per annum or the maximum rate permitted under applicable law.
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The redemption feature under our convertible notes is dependent upon the market value of our common stock, which could result in significant dilution to
our existing stockholders.

 
The noteholder has the right to redeem up to $0.5 million of the outstanding balance of each note per month. In January 2023, we amended the note

agreements whereby the noteholder agreed to waive their redemption rights through March 31, 2023, in exchange for a fee equal to 3.75% of the outstanding
principal balance. We have the option to make such payments in either (a) cash, (b) by paying the redemption amount in the form of shares of common stock
with the number of redemption shares being equal to the portion of the applicable redemption amount divided by the redemption conversion price or (c) a
combination of cash and shares of common stock. Since the redemption conversion price will be equal 85% multiplied by the average of the two lowest daily
volume weighted average prices per share of the common stock during the 15 trading days immediately preceding the date that the noteholder delivers notice
electing to redeem a portion of the note, the number of shares to be issued by us in satisfaction of this redemption will vary, perhaps considerably. A reduction
in our trading value could cause us to issue a greater number of shares under a redemption notice and therefore increase the dilutive effect to other
stockholders.
 
We must increase revenue levels in order to finance our current operations and to implement our business strategies.

 
For the year ended December 31, 2022, we had a net loss of $16.2 million and had an accumulated deficit of approximately $96.3 million as of

December 31, 2022. We need to increase current revenue levels from the sales of our solutions if we are to regain profitability, and our new INTRUSION
Shield suite of products may take time to achieve market penetration which could negatively impact future revenues and results of operations. If we are unable
to increase revenue levels, losses could continue for the near term and possibly longer, and we may not regain profitability or be able to implement our business
plan, fund our liquidity needs, or continue our operations.

 
Business and Operational Risks
 
Most of our current revenues are generated from one family of solutions with a limited number of customers, and the decrease of revenue from sales of
this family of solutions could materially harm our business and prospects.
 

Approximately 80.9% of our existing revenues result from sales of TraceCop a cybersecurity solution. TraceCop revenues were $6.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022, compared to $6.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. We can offer no assurances that our new INTRUSION
Shield solution will reduce our dependence on this single solution and in the absence of a shift in solution mix, we may continue to face risks in the event that
sales of this key solution to these limited customers were to decrease.
 
We may not be successful in our efforts to broaden the marketing and sale of the INTRUSION Shield.

 
We believe that we must expand our sales and marketing efforts for INTRUSION Shield to achieve marketplace acceptance and to generate revenue

for the Company. However, these efforts depend, in large part, on the success of our channel partners as they market and sell INTRUSION Shield, which may
not be successful. If we are unsuccessful in our efforts to leverage channel and strategic partners, we may not be able to generate sufficient revenue from
INTRUSION Shield to improve the Company’s financial position, results of operations, and cash flow position.

 
The current geo-political climate may add uncertainty in the dealings of our customers and could cause them to delay indefinitely certain cyber-security
initiatives or to determine not to introduce or implement any new or innovative cyber-solution products into their information networks.
 

Continuing events in Eastern Europe and Russia have introduced a significant level of uncertainty in the dealings of our current and potential
customers that could cause them to be hesitant to implement new cyber-security initiatives regardless of the efficacy of our INTRUSION Shield product.
Further, these entities may also determine not to deploy their cash reserves in the face of such uncertainty. These uncertainties could depress the interest or the
ability of companies and governmental entities to test, evaluate, and deploy our INTRUSION Shield in their network environments.
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A large percentage of our current revenues are received from U.S. government entities, and the loss of these customers or our failure to widen the scope of
our customer base to include general commercial enterprises could negatively affect our revenues.
 

A substantial percentage of our current revenues result from sales to U.S. government entities. If we were to lose one or more of these customers, our
revenues could decline, and our business and prospects may be materially harmed. Further, sales to the government present risks in addition to those involved
in sales to commercial customers, including potential disruption due to appropriation and spending patterns, delays in approving a federal budget and the
government’s right to cancel contracts and purchase orders for its convenience. While we expect that developing relationships with non-governmental
customers will mitigate or eliminate this dependence on, and risk from, serving governmental entities, we can offer no assurances that we will be able to
sufficiently diversify our customer portfolio in a time and manner to adequately mitigate this risk.
 
We are highly dependent on sales of our current solutions through indirect channels, the loss of which would materially adversely affect our operations.
 

For the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, we derived 31.5% and 37.5% of our revenues from sales through indirect sales channels, such as
distributors, value-added resellers, system integrators, original equipment manufacturers and managed service providers. We must expand sales of our current
solutions as well as any new solutions through these indirect channels in order to increase our revenues. We cannot assure you that our current solutions or
future solutions will gain market acceptance in these indirect sales channels or that sales through these indirect sales channels will increase our revenues.
Further, many of our competitors are also trying to sell their product and solutions through these indirect sales channels, which could result in lower prices and
reduced profit margins for the sales of our solutions.
 
Our business depends on the continued service of our key management and technical personnel.

 
Our success depends upon the continued contributions of our key management, sales, marketing, research and development and operational personnel,

including Anthony Scott, our President, and Chief Executive Officer; T. Joe Head, our Chief Technology Officer; Kimberly Pinson, our Chief Financial Officer;
and other key technical personnel. The loss of the services of one or more of our key employees in the future could have a material adverse effect on our
operating results. We also believe our future success will depend upon our ability to attract and retain additional highly skilled management, technical,
marketing, research and development, and operational personnel with experience in managing large and rapidly changing companies, as well as training,
motivating and supervising employees. The market for hiring and retaining certain technical personnel, including software engineers, has become more
competitive and intense in recent years. Failure to attract and retain a sufficient number of qualified technical personnel, including software engineers, or retain
our key personnel could have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

 
We could experience damage to our reputation in the cybersecurity industry in the event that our INTRUSION Shield solution fails to meet our customers’
needs or to achieve market acceptance.
 

Our reputation in the industry may be harmed if we experience delivery delays, or if our customers do not perceive the benefits of purchasing and
using INTRUSION Shield as part of their comprehensive cybersecurity solution, our position as a leader in this technology space may be damaged and could
affect the willingness of our customers, as well as potential customers, to purchase our other solutions that function separately from INTRUSION Shield. Any
reputational damage could result in a decrease in orders for all our solutions, the loss of current customers, and a decrease in our overall revenues which could
in turn have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
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If we fail to respond to rapid technological changes in the network security industry, we may lose customers, or our solutions may become obsolete.
 

The network security industry is characterized by frequent product and service introductions, rapidly changing technology, and continued evolution of
new industry standards. We have and must continue to introduce upgrades to our current solutions rapidly in response to changing circumstances and customer
needs such as the creation and introduction of new computer viruses or other novel external attacks on computer networks. Further, our new INTRUSION
Shield solution represents our efforts to continue to provide state-of-the art first-in-time innovation for our customer’s cybersecurity solutions. As a result, our
success depends upon our ability to develop and introduce timely upgrades, enhancements, and new solutions to meet evolving customer requirements and
industry standards. The development of technologically advanced network security products and solutions is a complex and uncertain process requiring high
levels of innovation, rapid response, and accurate anticipation of technological and market trends. We cannot assure you that we will be able to identify,
develop, manufacture, market or support new or enhanced solutions successfully in a timely manner. Further, we or our competitors may introduce new
solutions or enhancements that shorten the life cycle of our existing solutions or cause our existing solutions to become obsolete.
 
We must expend time and resources addressing potential cybersecurity risk, and any breach of our information security safeguards could have a material
adverse effect on the Company.
 

The threat of cyber-attacks requires additional time and money to be expended in efforts to prevent any breaches of our information security protocols.
However, we can provide no assurances that we can prevent all such attempts from being successful, which could result in expenses to address and remediate
such breaches as well as potentially losing the confidence of our customers who depend upon our services to prevent and mitigate such attacks on their
respective business. Should a material breach of our information security systems occur, it would likely have a material adverse impact on our business
operations, our customer relations, and our current and future sales prospects, resulting in a significant loss of revenue.
 
A breach of network security could harm public perception of our cybersecurity solutions, which could cause us to lose revenues.

 
If an actual or perceived breach of network security occurs in the network of a customer of our cybersecurity solutions, regardless of whether the

breach is attributable to our solutions, the market perception of the effectiveness of our solutions could be harmed. This could cause us to lose current and
potential end customers or cause us to lose current and potential value-added resellers and distributors. Because the techniques used by computer hackers to
access or sabotage networks change frequently and generally are not recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these
techniques.

 
If our solutions do not interoperate with our customers’ networks, installations will be delayed or cancelled and could harm our business.
 

Our solutions are designed to interface with our customers’ existing networks, each of which have different specifications and utilize multiple protocol
standards and products or solutions from other vendors. Many of our customers’ networks contain multiple generations of products that have been added over
time as these networks have grown and evolved. Our solutions will be required to interoperate with many products and solutions within these networks as well
as future products or solutions to meet our customers’ requirements. If we find errors in the existing software or defects in the hardware used in our customers’
networks, we may have to modify our software or hardware to fix or overcome these errors so that our solutions will interoperate and scale with the existing
software and hardware, which could be costly and negatively impact our operating results. In addition, if our solutions do not interoperate with those of our
customers’ networks, demand for our solutions could be adversely affected, orders for our solutions could be cancelled, or our solutions could be returned. This
could hurt our operating results, damage our reputation, and seriously harm our business and prospects.
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We face intense competition from both start-up and established companies that may have significant advantages over us and our solutions.
 

The market for our solutions is intensely competitive. There are numerous companies competing with us in various segments of the data security
markets, and their products or solutions may have advantages over our solutions in areas such as conformity to existing and emerging industry standards,
interoperability with networking and other cybersecurity products, management and security capabilities, performance, price, ease of use, scalability, reliability,
flexibility, features, and technical support.
 

Our principal competitors in the data mining and advanced persistent threat market include Niksun, NetScout and Darktrace. Our current and potential
competitors may have one or more of the following significant advantages over us:

 
  · greater financial, technical, and marketing resources;
  · better name recognition;
  · more comprehensive security solutions;
  · better or more extensive cooperative relationships; and
  · larger customer base.

 
We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully with our existing or new competitors. Some of our competitors may have, in relation

to us, one or more of the following:
 

  · longer operating histories;
  · longer-standing relationships with OEM and end-user customers; and
  · greater customer service, public relations, and other resources.

 
As a result, these competitors may be able to more quickly develop or adapt to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements,

or devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of their products or solutions. Additionally, it is likely that new competitors or alliances
among existing competitors could emerge and rapidly acquire significant market share.
 
The effect of the coronavirus, particularly in the diversion of time and resources of the federal, state, and local governmental entities which make up a
significant concentration of our customer base have caused, and may continue to cause, material adverse effects on our operations and our financial
results.
 

A significant concentration of our federal, state, and local governmental customers has been forced to allocate scarce and competing resources and
balance budgetary demands placed upon them because of the effects of the coronavirus, scarcity of commodities, and similar economic and operational effects
of the virus upon their own constituencies. These adverse effects have resulted in decreased demand by some of our customers for our current product offerings
and cybersecurity solutions, negatively affecting historic revenue levels for the Company. A continued decrease in orders for our solutions by our government
customers and losses of efficiency or diversions of resources in our own operations may continue to cause material adverse effect on our operations and
financial results.
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Scarcity of products and materials in the supply chain could hinder or prevent the deployment of our INTRUSION Shield for our customers who elect to
use the wired version of our solution.
 

Supply chain interruptions have become frequent considering the lingering commercial effects of COVID and its related variants. Should any of the
component parts required for the hardware interface our customers use to access and to utilize the INTRUSION Shield product, we may have to delay or
cancel our fulfillment of orders that could defer potential revenues or even result in customer cancellations, which would have a negative effect on our financial
position and results of operations.
 
Investment Risks
  
We experience volatility in the market for our common stock, particularly with respect to swings in the market price as well as volatility in the trading of
our common stock.
 

We experience significant shifts in the market value of our common stock as it trades on the Nasdaq Capital Market as well as volatility in the trading
volume of our shares on that market. For example, the market price of our common stock fluctuated between $1.74 and $5.77 during the year ended December
31, 2022. These fluctuations may result in a hesitancy for investors to purchase and hold shares of our common stock, continued depression of the market value
of our stock, and ultimately negatively affect our ability to raise capital through the issuance and sale of our common stock, particularly through our at-the-
market program or otherwise.
 
Risks Related to our Intellectual Property
 
We must adequately protect our intellectual property to prevent loss of valuable proprietary information.

 
We rely primarily on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, confidentiality procedures, and non-disclosure agreements

to protect our proprietary technology. However, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or reverse engineer aspects of our solutions or to obtain and use
information that we regard as proprietary. Policing unauthorized use of our solutions is difficult, and we cannot be certain that the steps we have taken will
prevent misappropriation of our intellectual property. This is particularly true in foreign countries whose laws may not protect proprietary rights to the same
extent as the laws of the U.S. and may not provide us with an effective remedy against unauthorized use. If protection of our intellectual property proves to be
inadequate or unenforceable, others may be able to use our proprietary developments without compensation to us, resulting in potential cost advantages to our
competitors.

 
We may incur substantial expenses defending ourselves against claims of infringement.
 

There are numerous patents held by many companies relating to the design and manufacture of network security systems. Third parties may claim that
our solutions infringe on their intellectual property rights. Any claim, with or without merit, could consume our management’s time, result in costly litigation,
cause delays in sales or implementations of our solutions or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements. Royalty and licensing agreements, if
required and available, may be on terms unacceptable to us or detrimental to our business. Moreover, a successful claim of product infringement against us or
our failure or inability to license the infringed or similar technology on commercially reasonable terms could seriously harm our business.

 
 
 
 

  11  



 

 
Our solutions are highly technical and if they contain undetected errors, our business could be adversely affected, and we might have to defend lawsuits or
pay damages in connection with any alleged or actual failure of our solutions and services.
 

Our solutions are highly technical and complex, are critical to the operation of many networks and, in the case of ours, provide and monitor network
security and may protect valuable information. Our solutions have contained and may contain one or more undetected errors, defects, or security
vulnerabilities. Some errors in our solutions may only be discovered after a solution has been installed and used by end customers. Any errors or security
vulnerabilities discovered in our solutions after commercial release could result in loss of revenues or delay in revenue recognition, loss of customers and
increased service and warranty cost, any of which could adversely affect our business and results of operations. In addition, we could face claims for product
liability, tort, or breach of warranty. Defending a lawsuit, regardless of its merit, is costly and may divert management’s attention. In addition, if our business
liability insurance coverage is inadequate or future coverage is unavailable on acceptable terms or at all, our financial condition could be harmed.
 
Item 2. Properties.
 

Our corporate headquarters are currently located in 17,250 square feet of space at 101 East Park Blvd, Suite 1200, Plano Texas. This facility houses
our corporate administration, engineering, sales, and marketing operations. The lease for this facility extends until November 2023. We also have engineers and
other employees working remotely in Texas as well as several other states.

 
We believe that the existing facility will be adequate to meet our operational requirements through the expiration of the lease. We are currently

evaluating the office rental market in proximity to our existing lease to identify and secure space or our future needs. We believe that our property insurance
provides adequate coverage for our leased facilities. See Note 5 – Right-of-use Asset and Leasing Liabilities to our Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information regarding our obligations under leases.
 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
 
Class Action Litigation
 

On April 16, 2021, a class action lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court, Eastern District of Texas, Sherman Division, captioned Celeste
v. Intrusion Inc. et al., Case No. 4:21-cv-00307 (E.D. Tex.) against us, our now-former chief financial officer, and now-former chief executive officer alleging,
among other things, that the defendants made false and/or misleading statements or omissions about our business, operations, and prospects in violation of
Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, as well as Section 20(a) of
the Exchange Act. The Celeste lawsuit claimed compensatory damages and legal fees.

 
On May 14, 2021, a related class action lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court, Eastern District of Texas, Sherman Division, captioned

Neely v. Intrusion Inc., et al., Case No. 4:12-cv-00374 (E.D. Tex.) against us, our now-former chief financial officer, and now-former chief executive officer.
The Neely lawsuit alleged the same violations under the federal securities laws as those alleged in the Celeste lawsuit. The Neely lawsuit also sought
compensatory damages and legal fees.

 
On November 23, 2021, the Court consolidated the Celeste and Neely actions, and appointed a lead plaintiff and lead plaintiff’s counsel. The lead

plaintiff filed his amended complaint on February 7, 2022. The amended complaint named the following additional parties as named defendants: Mr. Michael
Paxton, a former director and executive officer; Mr. Gary Davis, a former officer; Mr. Joe Head, the current chief technology officer, and a former director; and
Mr. James Gero, a current director and chair of the compensation committee.

 
The parties to the consolidated class action held a mediation on April 5, 2022, at the conclusion of which the parties executed a settlement term sheet

setting forth the material terms associated with the resolution of the action, subject to the preparation of formal documents and a plan of distribution approved
by the Court. The settlement agreement was subject to certain terms and conditions and received final approval by the Court on December 16, 2022. At that
time, a final judgement was entered dismissing the case, with the Court retaining jurisdiction over the action for purposes of enforcing the terms of the class
settlement agreement. The $3.3 million settlement was paid by our insurance provider under our insurance policy as our retention had previously been
exhausted.

 
The lead plaintiff in the class action filed a motion for distribution of settlement funds on February 21, 2023. The Court approved the parties’ class

action settlement and plan of allocation on March 22, 2023, and cancelled the previously-rescheduled March 31, 2023, hearing on the motion for distribution,
all remaining matters in the class action then-pending have been fully and finally adjudicated.
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Securities Investigation
 

On August 8, 2021, we received a notification from the Securities and Exchange Commission, Division of Enforcement, that it was conducting an
investigation captioned In the Matter of Intrusion Inc. and requesting we produce certain documents and information. On November 9, 2021, the Securities and
Exchange Commission served a subpoena to us in connection with this investigation which formally requested substantially similar information as in the prior
request. We are continuing to comply with the requests and is cooperating in the investigation. We can offer no assurances as to the outcome of this
investigation or its potential effect on us or our results of operations.

 
Stockholder Derivative Claim
 

On June 3, 2022, a stockholder derivative complaint was filed in U.S. District Court, District of Delaware by plaintiff Nathan Prawitt (the “Plaintiff
Stockholder”) on behalf of Intrusion against certain of our current and former officers and directors (the “Defendants”). Plaintiff alleges that Defendants
through various actions breached their fiduciary duties, wasted corporate assets, and unjustly enriched Defendants by (a) incurring costs and expenses in
connection with the ongoing SEC investigation, (b) incurring costs and expenses to defend us with respect to the consolidated class action, (c) settling class-
wide liability with respect to the consolidated class action, as well as ancillary claims regarding sales of our common stock by certain of the Defendants. The
Plaintiff is seeking remedial actions including improvements in our corporate governance and internal control policies and reimbursement of legal costs. While
we are not a named defendant, but a nominal plaintiff in the stockholder derivative claim, we will be providing the financial and other assistance for each of the
Defendants that we are obligated to provide under our Articles of Incorporation, our Bylaws, as well as individual indemnifications agreements that are in
effect between, us and each of the Defendants.

 
In addition to these legal proceedings, we are subject to various other claims that may arise in the ordinary course of business. We do not believe that

any claims exist where the outcome of such matters would have a material adverse effect on our condensed consolidated financial position, operating results, or
cash flows. However, there can be no assurance such legal proceedings will not have a material impact on our future results.
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PART II

 
Item 5. Market for Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters and Business Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
 

Our common stock trades on the Nasdaq Capital Market, where it is currently listed under the symbol “INTZ.” As of March 24, 2023, there were
approximately 89 registered holders of record of our common stock. The Company does not have a history of paying dividends on its common stock and has
no present intention to declare any dividends in the foreseeable future.
 

All equity compensation plans under which our common stock is reserved for issuance have previously been approved by our stockholders. The
following table provides summary information as of December 31, 2022, for all our equity compensation plans (in thousands, except per share data). See Note
9 – Stock-Based Compensation to our consolidated financial statements for additional discussion.

 

   

Number of
shares of

common stock
to be issued

upon exercise
of outstanding

options(1)    

Weighted
average

exercise price
of

outstanding
options    

Number of
shares

unvested
restricted

stock    

Weighted
average grant
date fair value    

No. of shares
of

common stock
remaining
available
for future
issuance

under equity
compensation

plans  
Equity compensation plans approved by security

holders     668    $ 5.22      158    $ 2.88      2,269 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security

holders     –      –      –      –      – 
Total     668    $ 5.22      158    $ 2.88      2,269 
 

 (1) Included in the outstanding options are 162 from the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan, 390 from the 2015 Stock Option Plan and 116 from the 2021 Omnibus
Incentive Plan.

 
On November 21, 2022, we sold 31,746 shares of common stock in a private placement under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act to our Chief

Executive Officer, Anthony Scott, at the then current market price, resulting in gross proceeds of $0.1 million, which we used for general corporate purposes.
 

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
 

General
 

The following discussion and analysis include information management believes is relevant to understand and assess our consolidated financial
condition and results of operations. This section should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements, accompanying notes and the risk
factors contained in this report.
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Overview

 
Intrusion Inc. offers businesses of all sizes and industries products and services that leverage across our exclusive threat intelligence database which

contains the historical data, known associations, and reputational behavior of over 8.5 billion IP addresses. After many years of gathering intelligence and
providing our INTRUSION TraceCop and Savant solutions exclusively to government entities, we released our first commercial product in 2021, the
INTRUSION Shield. INTRUSION Shield was designed to allow businesses to incorporate a Zero Trust, reputation-based security solution into their existing
infrastructure and to observe traffic flow and instantly block known malicious or unknown connections from both entering or exiting a network, making it an
ideal solution for protecting from Zero-Day and ransomware attacks.

 
During 2022 we spent significant time and resources on:

 
· Addressing and correcting performance issues encountered with the Shield On-Premise solution;
· Developing Shield Cloud and Shield End-Point; both released in September 2022;
· Further refining our go-to-market strategy by partnering with targeted new value-added resellers, managed service providers and managed

security service providers, and
· Building out our management team.

 
We feel that these efforts provide the resources needed to implement our business plan.

 
In 2022, we raised $15.6 million through the combined issuance of notes payable pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement with Streeterville

Capital, LLC dated March 10, 2022, the sale of common stock through our at-the-market-program and a registered direct offering. On December 31, 2022, we
had $3.0 million in cash. If we are not able to obtain additional debt or equity financing on terms and conditions acceptable to us, we may be unable to
implement our business plan or even continue our operations.
 
Results of Operations
 

The following table set forth, the results of operations for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021. Certain historical amounts have been
reclassified to be presented on a comparable basis. For additional details, see Note 14 Correction of Immaterial Errors to the consolidated financial statements
(Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K).
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Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021
 
    Year Ended December 31,     Year Ended December 31,  
(in thousands)   2022     2021     2022     2021  
Revenue   $ 7,529    $ 7,277      100.0%      100.0% 
Cost of revenue     3,354      3,621      44.5%      49.8% 
                             
Gross profit     4,175      3,656      55.5%      50.2% 
                             
Operating expenses:                            
Sales and marketing     6,510      10,935      86.5%      150.3% 
Research and development     6,465      6,328      85.9%      87.0% 
General and administrative     7,483      5,896      99.4%      81.0% 
                             
Operating loss     (16,283)     (19,503)     -216.3%      -268.0% 
                             
Interest and other income     2,028      722      26.9%      9.9% 
Interest expense     (2,359)     (21)     -31.3%      -0.3% 
Gain on lease termination     385      –      5.1%      – 
                             
Loss from operations before income taxes     (16,229)     (18,802)     -215.6%      -258.4% 
Income tax provision     –      –      –      – 
Net loss   $ (16,229)   $ (18,802)     -215.6%      -258.4% 
 
Net Revenue
 

Total revenue increased 3.5% to $7.5 million in 2022 from $7.3 million in 2021. Shield revenues increased $0.7 million year-over-year as a result of
the full year impact of sales from prior year, the expanded use of Shield from existing customers and new customers signed in 2022. The increase in Shield
revenues was partially offset by a decline in consulting revenues of $0.4 million. The decline in consulting revenues resulted primarily from the loss of a
contract in the fourth quarter in which Intrusion’s prime sponsor chose not to renew the final option year of a contract that had been in place since 2018. This
contract represented annual revenue totaling $2.6 million. While the loss of this contract significantly impacts Intrusion’s top-line revenue, the gross margin on
this contract was 14% and, as a result, has a marginal impact on profitability. We will continue to pursue new consulting opportunities and expect to see an
increase in consulting revenues in 2023.
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Concentration of Revenues. Revenues from sales to various U.S. government entities totaled $5.0 million, or 65.8% of revenues, for the year ended

December 31, 2022, compared to $5.2 million, or 71.3% of revenues, for the same period in 2021. In both 2022 and 2021, sales to three government entities
individually accounted for over 10% of total revenues. Sales to commercial customers totaled $2.6 million or 34.2% of total revenue for year ended December
31, 2022, compared to $2.1 million or 28.7% of total revenue for the same period in 2021. Two commercial customers individually accounted for over 10% of
total revenues in 2022 compared to one commercial customer in 2021. We have increased our Shield sales and marketing efforts by expanding our reseller
channels. On December 31, 2022, our Shield opportunities comprised a large percentage of our sales pipeline. We anticipate our concentration of revenues will
vary among customers in future periods depending upon the timing of certain sales, we anticipate that sales to government customers, while comprising a
significant portion of our revenues in future periods, will represent a lower percentage of our revenue base as we gain traction selling our Shield products into
commercial markets.

 
Sales to the government present risks in addition to those involved in sales to commercial customers which could adversely affect our revenues,

including, without limitation, potential disruption to appropriation and spending patterns and the government’s reservation of the right to cancel contracts and
purchase orders for its convenience which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results. Currently, we are not aware of any additional proposed
cancellation or renegotiation of any of our existing arrangements with government entities and, historically, cancellations or renegotiated orders by government
entities have not resulted in a material adverse effect on our business.

 
The Company’s similar product and service offerings are not viewed as individual segments, as its management analyzes the business as a whole and

expenses are not allocated to each product offering. 
 
Gross Profit
 

Gross profit for the 12-months ended December 31, 2022, and 2021 totaled $4.2 million or 55% compared to $3.7 million or 50%. The improved
gross profit in 2022 is mostly due to Shield revenues representing a larger percentage of revenues, 16% compared to 7% in 2021. To the extent Shield revenues
become a larger percentage of revenues, we anticipate we will continue to see favorable growth in gross profit margins.
 
Sales and Marketing
 

Sales and marketing expenses decreased to $6.5 million in 2022, compared to $10.9 million in 2021. In 2021, with the launch of the INTRUSION
Shield commercial product, we aggressively ramped up selling and marketing costs in anticipation of driving revenue growth from Shield sales. As a result of
our inability to successfully market and gain traction with sales of the Shield On-Premise solution, we implemented cost saving measures which included
changing our go-to-market strategy. We changed from primarily a direct sales effort to a fully indirect channel program including value added resellers,
managed service providers, managed security service providers and strategic partners. This change contributed to significantly lowering year-over-year spend
with reductions in sales and marketing headcount from a high of 40 in mid-2021 to 9 employees on December 31, 2021, and 2022. Other cost saving measures
implemented in late 2021 that carried forward into 2022 included reduced spend on web marketing, trade shows and other forms of business development and
advertising costs. Sales and marketing expenses may vary in the future.
 
Research and Development
 

Research and development expenses increased to $6.5 million in 2022 compared to $6.3 million in 2021. In 2022, we implemented the Agile
methodology of software development to manage and track our development costs. As a result, we are now able to accurately quantify and capture the cost
associated with each stage of the development life cycle. As required under ASC Topic 350-40 Internal Use Software Accounting-Capitalization, we began
capitalization of costs incurred during the application development stage. In 2022, we recorded $1.4 million of research and development costs to internal use
software. The net increased spend year-over-year, when including amounts capitalized, of $1.6 million related to costs to design, develop and launch the new
Shield Cloud and End-Point solutions as well as costs to support and enhance Shield On-Premise.
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General and Administrative
 

General and administrative expenses increased to $7.5 million from $5.9 million in 2021. The increase in general and administrative costs relates
primarily to increased legal defense costs associated with the various legal proceedings as described in more detail in Item 3. Legal Proceedings of this report.
In late 2022 we hired an in-house General Counsel which we believe will help to reduce any remaining expense for the Legal Proceedings described herein and
expense for legal matters going forward. Also, in late 2021 and early 2022, we experienced significant turnover in our finance department which resulted in
higher contract labor and recruiting costs. Insurance expense for our Directors’ and Officers’ insurance policy increased in 2022 when compared to 2021 as a
result of the Class Action lawsuits and related claims activity and, increasing coverage limits for our new policy year.

 
Interest Expense
 

Interest expense increased to $2.4 million in 2022 compared to $21 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase relates to the
Streeterville notes payable entered into in March and June of 2022 and related debt issuance cost amortization as well as interest expense from finance leases.
Interest expense will vary in the future based on our cash flow and borrowing needs.
 
Interest and Other Income
 

Other income totaled $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. In 2022
we recorded a $2.0 million to Other Income related to an Employee Retention Credit refund due from the federal government as a result of amending 941
returns for the 2020 and 2021 tax periods. Other income in 2021 related to the forgiveness of our U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”) Payroll
Protection Program (“PPP”) loan principal and accrued interest.

 
Gain on Lease Termination

 
In 2022 we recorded a gain of $0.4 million relating to the settlement of our lease abandonment lawsuit.

 
Income Taxes

Our effective income tax rate was 0% in 2022 and 2021 as valuation allowances have been recorded for the entire amount of the net deferred tax
assets due to uncertainty of realization.
 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
 

Our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021 were:
 

    Year Ended  

   
December 31,

2022    
December 31,

2021  
Net cash used in operating activities   $ (13,190)   $ (16,557)
Net cash used in investing activities     (1,479)     (1,148)
Net cash provided by financing activities     13,584      5,101 
Change in cash and cash equivalents   $ (1,085)   $ (12,604)
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Operating Activities

 
Net cash used in operations for the year ended December 31, 2022, was ($13.2) million due to a net loss of ($16.2) million offset by adjustments for

non-cash items of $5.0 million which are mostly comprised of depreciation, stock-based compensation and interest related to Streeterville notes, and changes in
working capital consisting primarily of a reduction in trade receivables $0.5 million; an increase in other receivables relating principally to the remaining
Employee Retention Credits (“ERC”) refund outstanding ($1.5) million; an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses $0.2 million; and a decrease in
operating lease liabilities ($1.0) million.

 
Net cash used in operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 was ($16.6) million due primarily to a net loss of ($18.8) million partially offset by

the following sources of cash and non-cash items: $0.4 million increase in deferred revenue, primarily due to increases in cash advances from certain customers
shifting to making upfront payments for our services for their contract term of one year and an increased customer base related to our INTRUSION Shield
product, a $0.2 million decrease in accounts receivable, primarily caused by timing in receipt of receivables from our customers, a ($0.6) million in gain on the
extinguishment of the PPP Loan, $1.3 million in stock-based compensation, $0.8 million in depreciation and amortization expense and $0.2 in noncash lease
costs.

 
Investing Activities
 

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022, totaled ($1.5) million and was primarily related to capitalized internal use
software of ($1.2) million for the new Shield Cloud and End Point solutions as well as enhancements to the Shield On-Premise solution and, the purchase of
equipment for use with the Shield On-Premise solution, in the data center and by employees of ($0.3) million.

 
Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022, was ($1.1) million which consisted of the purchases of property and

equipment and a domain name.
 
Financing Activities

 
Net cash provided by financing activities was $13.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. Primary sources of cash from financing activities

included proceeds from the issuance of the two Streeterville notes payable, net of issuance costs, equal to $9.3 million (see Note 6 Notes Payable to the
consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K), net proceeds received from our registered direct offering of $4.3 million, net proceeds
from issuance of shares from our at-the-market program of $2.0 million, and proceeds received from a private placement sale of common stock equal to $0.1
million. Funds used in financing activities included ($1.5) million in principal repayments on the Streeterville notes payable and ($0.6) million payments on
equipment financing leases.

 
Net cash provided by financing activities was $5.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which was primarily the result of net proceeds from

our at-the-market program public offering of $5.6 million, proceeds from exercise of stock options of $0.2 million offset by the payment on principal of finance
right-of-use leases of ($0.7) million.

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

As of December 31, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of $3.0 million, down from $4.1 million as of December 31, 2021; and a working capital
deficit of ($7.8) million on December 31, 2022, compared to $2.1 million in working capital on December 31, 2021. As discussed above in Financing
Activities, our principal sources of cash for funding operations in 2022 was through the issuance of the two Streeterville notes which contributed $9.3 million,
net of issuance costs, and $6.4 million from the sale and issuance of common stock and warrants. On February 23, 2023 we sold a secured promissory note to
Streeterville in the aggregate principal amount of $1.4 million plus certain reimbursed expenses in exchange for $1.3 million. The note provided for weekly
principal payments of $50 thousand until its maturity on March 31, 2023. The note was secured by all employee retention credits (“ERC”), or other funds still
owed or otherwise payable to the Company under the Cares Act. We received payment for the ERC owed to Intrusion on March 13, 2023 and on March 14,
2023 we repaid in full the secured promissory note with Streeterville.
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Current At-The Market Offering.
 

In August of 2021, we engaged B. Riley Securities, Inc. to act as sales agent under our at-the-market program, which allows us to potentially sell up to
$50.0 million of our common stock on a delayed or continuous basis through the use of a shelf-registration statement on Form S-3. As of December 31, 2022,
we have received proceeds of approximately $7.5 million net of fees from the sale of 1,843 thousand shares of our common stock pursuant to the program.

 
For so long as our public float is less than $75 million, we will be subject to the restrictions set forth in General Instruction I.B.6 to Form S-3, which

limit our ability to conduct primary offerings under a Form S-3 registration statement, including with respect to issuances under our at-the-market program.
Under such limitations, we may not sell, during any 12-month period, securities on Form S-3 having an aggregate market value of more than one-third of our
public float. As of March 24, 2023, our public float calculated in accordance with General Instruction I.B.6 of Form S-3 was $28.7 million.

 
2022 Convertible Notes Issuance.
 
We entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “SPA”) with Streeterville Capital, LLC (“Streeterville”) on March 10, 2022, pursuant to which

Streeterville purchased two unsecured promissory notes with substantively identical terms. Streeterville purchased the first note on March 10th and the second
note on June 29th, each note with an aggregate principal amount of $5.4 million in exchange for $5.0 million less certain expenses. We received approximately
$9.3 million, net of transaction expenses, in connection with these issuances.

 
The notes mature in September and December 2023 and, as a result, are reflected as a current liability on our consolidated balance sheet. Beginning

six months following the issuance of each note, Streeterville has the right to redeem up to $0.5 million of the outstanding balance of each note per month.
Payments may be made by the Company, generally at the Company’s option, (a) in cash, (b) by paying the redemption amount in the form of shares of common
stock or (c) a combination of cash and shares of common stock. If paid in common stock, the number of redemption shares to be issued is based on a 15%
discount to market, as further defined in the note agreements. Through December 2022, Streeterville made three separate redemption requests totaling $1.5
million, we made the redemption payments in cash. In January 2023, the note agreements were amended whereby Streeterville waived their right to
redemptions through March 31, 2023, in exchange for a fee equal to 3.75% of the outstanding note balance. This fee was added to the outstanding principal
balance to be paid at maturity. As of March 24, 2023, our total outstanding indebtedness to Streeterville including principal, accrued interest and fees was $10.2
million.

 
We need to raise additional funds in the near term to continue operations. We intend to obtain these funds from sales of our common stock through

registered direct offerings and the use of our aftermarket program. While we can provide no assurances that we will be able to raise additional funds through
any future equity or debt financings, the terms of those financings, if available at all, may be on terms which are not favorable to us and, in the case of equity
financings, will result in dilution to our stockholders.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U. S. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.
On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to product returns, bad debts, income taxes, warranty obligations, maintenance
contracts and contingencies. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

 
We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated

financial statements.
 
Capitalized Software Development
 

We capitalize internally developed software using the Agile software development methodology which allows us to accurately track, and record costs
associated with new software development and enhancements.
 

Pursuant to ASC Topic 250-40 Internal Use Software Accounting Capitalization, certain development costs related to our products during the
application development stage are capitalized as part of property and equipment. Costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development are expensed as
incurred. The preliminary stage includes such activities as conceptual formulation of alternatives, evaluation of alternatives, determination of existence of
needed technology, and the final selection of alternatives. Once the application development stage is reached, internal and external costs are capitalized until
the software is complete and ready for its intended use. Capitalized internal use software is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life,
which is generally three years.
 
Revenue Recognition
 

We recognize product revenue upon shipment or after meeting certain performance obligations. These products can include hardware, software
subscriptions and consulting services. Most of our sales are from consulting services. We also offer software on a subscription basis subject to software as a
service (”SaaS”). Warranty costs and sales returns have not been material.
 

We recognize sales of its consulting services in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 606 whereby revenue from contracts with customers are recognized
once the criteria under the five steps below are met:
 
  i) identification of the contract with a customer;
     
  ii) identification of the performance obligations in the contract;
     
  iii) determination of the transaction price;
     
  iv) allocation of the transaction price to the separate performance obligations; and
     
  v) Recognition of revenue upon satisfaction of a performance obligation.
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Consulting services include reporting are typically done monthly, and revenue is matched accordingly. Product sales may include maintenance and

customer support allocated revenue in an arrangement using estimated selling prices of the delivered goods and services based on a selling price hierarchy
using the relative selling price method. All product offering and service offering market values are readily determined based on current and prior stand-alone
sales. We defer and recognize maintenance, updates, and support revenue over the term of the contract period, which is generally one year.
 

Normal payment terms offered to customers, distributors and resellers are net 30 days domestically. We do not offer payment terms that extend beyond
one year and rarely extend payment terms beyond our normal terms. If certain customers do not meet our credit standards, we require payment in advance to
limit our credit exposure.
 

Shipping and handling costs are billed to the customer and included in revenue. Shipping and handling expenses are included in cost of revenue. We
have elected to account for shipping and handling costs as fulfillment costs after the customer obtains control of the goods.
 

With our newest product, INTRUSION Shield, we began offering software on a subscription basis. INTRUSION Shield is a hosted arrangement
subject to software as a service guidance under ASC 606. SaaS arrangements are accounted for as subscription services not arrangements that transfer a license
of intellectual property.
 

We utilize the five-step process, mentioned above, per FASB ASC Topic 606 to recognize sales and will follow that directive, also, to define revenue
items as individual and distinct. INTRUSION Shield services provided to our customers for a fixed monthly subscription fee include:
 
  · Access to Intrusion’s proprietary software and database to detect and prevent unauthorized access to our clients’ information networks;
  · Use of all software, associated media, printed materials, data, files, online documentation, and any equipment that Intrusion provides for customers to

access the INTRUSION Shield; and
  · Tech support, post contract customer support (PCS) including daily program releases or corrections are provided by Intrusion without additional charge.
 

Our contract provides for no other services, and our customers have no rebates or return rights, nor are any such rights anticipated to be offered as part
of this service.

 
We satisfy our performance obligation when our INTRUSION Shield solution is available to detect and prevent unauthorized access to a client’s

information networks. Revenue is recognized monthly over the term of the contract. The Company’s standard initial contract terms automatically renew unless
notice is given 30 days before renewal. Upfront payment of fees is deferred and amortized into income over the period covered by the contract.
 
Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

 
We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. Our

receivables are uncollateralized, and we expect to continue this policy in the future. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, increased allowances may be required. Historically, our estimate for sales returns and doubtful accounts have
not differed materially from actual results.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 

We calculate the fair value of our assets and liabilities which qualify as financial instruments and include additional information in the notes to
consolidated financial statements when the fair value is different than the carrying value of these financial instruments. The estimated fair value of accounts
receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their carrying amounts due to the relatively short maturity of these instruments. Notes payable
and financing and operating leases approximate fair value as they bear market rates of interest. None of these instruments are held for trading purposes.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements (Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K).
 
Item 8. Financial Statements
 

The information required by this Item 8 begins on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
 
Evaluation of Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

The Company’s management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer,
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules  13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of
the period covered by this report, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to
be disclosed by the Company in reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time
periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is accumulated and communicated to management, including the
Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
 
Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the Company’s financial reporting and the
preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
 

The Company’s management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer,
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on criteria established in 2013 Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Management’s evaluation included an assessment
of elements such as the design and operating effectiveness of key financial reporting controls, process documentation, accounting policies, and the Company’s
overall control environment. Based on its evaluation, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
the year ended December  31, 2022, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the Company’s financial reporting and the preparation of
consolidated financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The Company reviewed the
results of management’s assessment with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.
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This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial

reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by the Company’s registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules  of the Securities and
Exchange Commission that permit the Company to provide only management’s report in this Annual Report. This report shall not be deemed to be filed for
purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section and is not incorporated by reference into any filing of the
Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.
 
Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls
 

The Company’s management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that the Company’s disclosure
controls or internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated,
can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. The design of a control system must reflect the fact that
there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Further, because of the inherent limitations in all control
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances
of fraud, if any, have been detected. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there
can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Projections of any evaluation of the
effectiveness of controls to future periods are subject to risks. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in
the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

During the quarter ended December 31, 2022, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART III

 
Certain information required by Part III is omitted from this Form 10-K because we will file a definitive Proxy Statement for our 2023 annual meeting

of stockholders pursuant to Regulation 14A (the “Proxy Statement”) no later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, and certain information to be included therein is incorporated herein by reference.
 
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance.
 

The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement.
 
Item 11. Executive Compensation.
 

The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement.
 
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
 

The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement.
 
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
 

The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement.
 

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
 

The information called for by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Proxy Statement.
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  25  



 

 
PART IV

 
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
 

(a)     1. Consolidated Financial Statements.
 

The following consolidated financial statements of Intrusion Inc. and subsidiaries, are submitted as a separate section of this report (See F-pages):
 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID 726) F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets on December 31, 2022, and 2021 F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021 F-5
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-6
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Exhibit Number   Description of Exhibit
3.1(3)   Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant
3.2(5)   Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant
3.3(2)   Bylaws of the Registrant
4.1(6)   Specimen Common Stock Certificate
4.2(19)   Description of the Registrant’s Capital Stock
4.3(14)

 
Form of Convertible Promissory Note #1 Issued Under the Securities Purchase Agreement dated March 10, 2022, by and between the
Registrant and Streeterville Capital, LLC.

4.4(14)
 

Form of Convertible Promissory Note #2 Issued Under the Securities Purchase Agreement dated March 10, 2022, by and between the
Registrant and Streeterville Capital, LLC.

4.5(15)
 

Form of Warrant Issued under that Securities Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and the Purchaser identified on the
signature pages thereto, dated September 12, 2022

10.1(14)   Securities Purchase Agreement dated March 10, 2022, by and Between the Registrant and Streeterville Capital, LLC
10.2(16)

 
Amendment dated January 11,2023, to the Securities Purchase Agreement dated March 10, 2022, by and between the Registrant and
Streeterville Capital, LLC.

10.3(15)
 

Securities Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and the Purchasers identified on the signature pages thereto, dated September
12, 2022

10.4(17)   Note Purchase Agreement dated February 23, 2023, by and Between Registrant and Streeterville Capital, LLC
10.5(18)   Sublease Agreement between the Registrant and CliftonLarsonAllen LLP dated September 28, 2020
10.6(18)   Lease between the Registrant and JBA Portfolio, LLC, executed as of February 3, 2021
10.7(2)+   Amended and Restated 401(k) Savings Plan of the Registrant
10.8(4)+   Intrusion Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan Summary of Material Modifications
10.9(7)+   Amended 2005 Stock Incentive Plan of the Registrant
10.10(8)+   2015 Stock Incentive Plan of the Registrant
10.11(9)+   Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option
10.12(9)+   Form of Stock Option Agreement
10.13(9)+   Form of Notice of Grant of Non-Employee Director Automatic Stock Option (Initial Grant)
10.14(9)+   Form of Notice of Grant of Non-Employee Director Automatic Stock Option (Annual Grant)
10.15(9)+   Form of Automatic Stock Option Agreement
10.16(10)+   Intrusion Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan
10.17(11)+   Form of Incentive Stock Option Award Agreement to the Intrusion Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan
10.18(1)+   Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement to the Intrusion Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan
10.19(1)+   Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement to the Intrusion Inc. 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan
10.20(12)   Sales Agreement, dated August 5, 2021, between the Registrant and B. Riley Securities, Inc.
10.21(13)+   Executive Employment Agreement between Intrusion Inc. and Anthony Scott, dated November 11, 2021
14.1(19)   Code Of Conduct
21(1)   List of Subsidiaries of Registrant
23.1(1)   Consent of Whitley Penn LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
31.1(1)   Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act
31.2(1)   Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act
32.1(1)

 
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) of the Exchange Act and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2(1)
 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) of the Exchange Act and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS(1)   XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH(1)   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL(1)   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF(1)   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB(1)   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE(1)   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
 
+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
 
 

  27  

https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-10-033915.html?hash=337ac1b440eb4966cb6b0ffe79881d558c77c642d2d6eeb271814b229cdbf9ac&dest=a10-12017_1ex3d1_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000912057-02-010643.html?hash=84ca7e28d632dc0eff2939139839dee6b10a72565f2d74c9e8f4efc1897c8139&dest=a2072855zex-3_1_txt
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000912057-01-007849.html?hash=c39f9509d5dd0a008466628fd46d35394812d26aa597032841222f84bdb48004&dest=a2040873zex-3_2_txt
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-04-008540.html?hash=b3b1055968fefab519f864a33dd18a1eb519e5f7f53cbec59f085edb5670e325&dest=a04-3802_1ex4d1_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-04-008522.html?hash=6d2d60f385dad769eca429919ee05488e296c07f3aabc0c21d95cc05bc497da3&dest=a04-3845_1ex4d2_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-22-001582.html?hash=21f9244f0d4ef3e746efd94725695bbe36f0430eb589fd804c1d582347bc0e64&dest=intrusion_ex0401_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-22-001582.html?hash=21f9244f0d4ef3e746efd94725695bbe36f0430eb589fd804c1d582347bc0e64&dest=intrusion_ex0401_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-22-001582.html?hash=21f9244f0d4ef3e746efd94725695bbe36f0430eb589fd804c1d582347bc0e64&dest=intrusion_ex0402_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-22-001582.html?hash=21f9244f0d4ef3e746efd94725695bbe36f0430eb589fd804c1d582347bc0e64&dest=intrusion_ex0402_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-22-006313.html?hash=136d9ab351c37afaaf811762919ed4dac50cf769852cb747405d3f0f873e9637&dest=intrusion_ex0401_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-22-006313.html?hash=136d9ab351c37afaaf811762919ed4dac50cf769852cb747405d3f0f873e9637&dest=intrusion_ex0401_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-22-001582.html?hash=21f9244f0d4ef3e746efd94725695bbe36f0430eb589fd804c1d582347bc0e64&dest=intrusion_ex1001_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-23-000198.html?hash=bcc7a04903bc05c3d0459068c6dd484f947e5aade096cc03b8c39fc319e9b866&dest=intrusion_ex1001_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-23-000198.html?hash=bcc7a04903bc05c3d0459068c6dd484f947e5aade096cc03b8c39fc319e9b866&dest=intrusion_ex1001_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-22-006313.html?hash=136d9ab351c37afaaf811762919ed4dac50cf769852cb747405d3f0f873e9637&dest=intrusion_ex1001_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-22-006313.html?hash=136d9ab351c37afaaf811762919ed4dac50cf769852cb747405d3f0f873e9637&dest=intrusion_ex1001_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-23-001221.html?hash=1f4865b2f974ad998504693b0c9c993808aa85bd1845dc05253b23821e03dbff&dest=intrusion_ex1001_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-21-000836.html?hash=7bec7d170d33d465e95fb1ed40db1e3218a78c949db13ce1e8b771f7372e42a8&dest=intrusion_ex1003_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-21-000836.html?hash=7bec7d170d33d465e95fb1ed40db1e3218a78c949db13ce1e8b771f7372e42a8&dest=intrusion_ex1004_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000912057-01-007849.html?hash=c39f9509d5dd0a008466628fd46d35394812d26aa597032841222f84bdb48004&dest=a2040873zex-10_13_txt
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000912057-02-018253.html?hash=2ef2f335e593b0cf7999fc06b661b180fdd95cc7513f0a8c89d54d0687d0e532&dest=a2078572zex-10_2_txt
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-05-028301.html?hash=7b5098f71955a79c732989beec0c4f2e202fb49bc8c9bab14f0d468691cf9c34&dest=a05-10716_1ex10d1_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001104659-15-023446.html?hash=5fe2aa26bfe4c6a3f3ae4fe8364b053fd394fee1d2640a4db291927fcd303fa5&dest=a15-1713_1def14a_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001437749-19-005894.html?hash=4394eccce37d23f95419fad4506ccde28d8bef318e6976e2270debcc1c99199a&dest=ex_138590_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001437749-19-005894.html?hash=4394eccce37d23f95419fad4506ccde28d8bef318e6976e2270debcc1c99199a&dest=ex_138580_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001437749-19-005894.html?hash=4394eccce37d23f95419fad4506ccde28d8bef318e6976e2270debcc1c99199a&dest=ex_138581_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001437749-19-005894.html?hash=4394eccce37d23f95419fad4506ccde28d8bef318e6976e2270debcc1c99199a&dest=ex_138582_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001437749-19-005894.html?hash=4394eccce37d23f95419fad4506ccde28d8bef318e6976e2270debcc1c99199a&dest=ex_138570_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-21-002179.html?hash=d3b6766bfcb6cdf54f490b95dcea9eeca93aef39e7b8efb396f36efd4255724a&dest=intrusion_ex1001_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-21-005474.html?hash=09bf24544d6f7e03a4c88178954911fb47342067af057a79cd10426ccea586c7&dest=intrusion_ex1002_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-21-003290.html?hash=2d6283048ba27755c11863a70e8c82989fb89214503767b259bda4195ce207b6&dest=intz_ex0102_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-21-005772.html?hash=ecd6162460a8c28c69427758ddbdb7bdba60bd8392714270f5498f7c1c6263b5&dest=intrusion_ex9901_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-22-001761.html?hash=8d75c9369b7b802a1f2d1323e1ef86ca6a8c3c83d560d9a9462abc9bcfdb85d4&dest=intz_ex1401_htm


 

 
 
 
(1) Filed herewith
(2) Filed as an Exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000, which Exhibit is incorporated herein

by reference.
(3) Filed as an Exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 15, 2010, which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference.
(4) Filed as an Exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002, which Exhibit is incorporated herein by

reference.
(5) Filed as an Exhibit  to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001 (as amended), which Exhibit  is

incorporated herein by reference.
(6) Filed as an Exhibit  to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 (as amended), which Exhibit  is

incorporated herein by reference.
(7) Filed as an Exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 15, 2005, which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference.
(8) Filed as an Exhibit to the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A in connection with the solicitation of proxies for its Annual

Meeting of Stockholders held May 14, 2015, which Exhibit is incorporated herein by reference.
(9) Filed as an Exhibit  to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 (as amended), which Exhibit  is

incorporated herein by reference.
(10) Filed as an Exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 24, 2021, which Exhibit is incorporated by reference herein.  
(11) Filed as an Exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 12, 2021, which Exhibit is incorporated by reference herein.
(12) Filed as an Exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on August 5, 2021, which Exhibit is incorporated by reference herein.
(13) Filed as an Exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 17, 2021, which Exhibit is incorporated by reference herein.
(14) Filed as an Exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 10, 2022, which Exhibit is incorporated by reference herein.
(15)
(16)
(17)

Filed as an Exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 12, 2022, which Exhibit is incorporated by reference herein.
Filed as an Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 17, 2023.
Filed as an Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on March 1, 2023

(18) Filed as an Exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, which Exhibit is incorporated herein
by reference.

(19) Filed as an Exhibit to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, which Exhibit is incorporated herein
by reference.
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SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant duly caused this report to be signed on its

behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
Dated: March 31, 2023 INTRUSION INC.  
  (Registrant)  
       
  By: /s/ Anthony Scott  
    Anthony Scott  
    Chief Executive Officer, Director  
    (Principal Executive Officer)  
       
       
  By: /s/ Kimberly Pinson  
    Kimberly Pinson  
    Chief Financial Officer  
    (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Signature   Title   Date
         

/s/ Anthony Scott   Chief Executive Officer, Director   March 31, 2023
Anthony Scott   (Principal Executive Officer)    

         
         

/s/ Kimberly Pinson   Chief Financial Officer   March 31, 2023
Kimberly Pinson   Principal Financial and Accounting Officer    

         
         

/s/ Anthony J. LeVecchio   Executive Chairman, Director   March 31, 2023
Anthony J. LeVecchio        

         
         

/s/ James F. Gero   Director   March 31, 2023
 James F. Gero        

         
         

/S/ Katrinka B. McCallum   Director   March 31, 2023
Katrinka B. McCallum        

         
         

/S/ Gregory K. Wilson   Director   March 31, 2023
Gregory K. Wilson        

         
         

/S/ Jamie M. Schnur   Director   March 31, 2023
Jamie M. Schnur        
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
 
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Intrusion Inc.
 
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Intrusion Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
Going Concern
 
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the entity will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 2 to the financial
statements, the entity has suffered recurring losses from operations, negative cash flows from operations, and has a net working capital deficiency that raise
substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management's plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 2. The financial
statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required
to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
Critical Audit Matters
 
Critical audit matters are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to
the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. We determined that there are no critical audit matters.
 
 
 
/s/ Whitley Penn LLP
  
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2009.
 
Dallas, Texas
March 31, 2023
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INTRUSION INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value amounts)

 
             
    December 31  
    2022     2021  

ASSETS          
Current Assets:              

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 3,015    $ 4,100 
Accounts receivable     530      1,034 
Prepaid expenses and other assets     1,877      356 

Total current assets     5,422      5,490 
Noncurrent Assets:              

Property and equipment:              
Equipment     2,865      2,517 
Capitalized software development     1,380      – 
Furniture and fixtures     43      43 
Leasehold improvements     78      67 

Property and equipment, gross     4,366      2,627 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization     (2,208)     (1,567)
Property and equipment, net     2,158      1,060 
Finance leases, right-of-use assets, net     1,048      1,709 
Operating leases, right-of-use assets, net     504      808 
Other assets     143      166 

Total noncurrent assets     3,853      3,743 
TOTAL ASSETS   $ 9,275    $ 9,233 
               

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)              
               
Current Liabilities:              

Accounts payable, trade   $ 1,273    $ 718 
Accrued expenses     446      534 
Finance lease liabilities, current portion     667      644 
Operating lease liabilities, current portion     294      935 
Notes payable     10,114      – 
Deferred revenue     455      560 

Total current liabilities     13,249      3,391 
               
Noncurrent Liabilities:              

Finance lease liabilities, noncurrent portion     10      673 
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent portion     231      1,250 

Total noncurrent liabilities     241      1,923 
               
Commitments and Contingencies – (See Note 7)            
               
Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit):              

Common stock $0.01 par value: Authorized shares — 80,000 Issued shares — 21,198 in 2022 and
19,135 in 2021 Outstanding shares — 21,188 in 2022 and 19,125 in 2021     212      191 
Common stock held in treasury, at cost – 10 shares     (362)     (362)
Additional paid-in capital     92,304      84,230 
Accumulated deficit     (96,326)     (80,097)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (43)     (43)

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)     (4,215)     3,919 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)   $ 9,275    $ 9,233 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INTRUSION INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

 
             
    Year Ended December 31,  
    2022     2021  
Revenue   $ 7,529    $ 7,277 
Cost of Revenue     3,354      3,621 
               
Gross Profit     4,175      3,656 
               
Operating Expenses:              

Sales and marketing     6,510      10,935 
Research and development     6,465      6,328 
General and administrative     7,483      5,896 

               
Operating Loss     (16,283)     (19,503)
               
Interest and Other Income     2,028      722 
Interest Expense     (2,359)     (21)
Gain on Lease Termination     385      – 
               
Loss Before Income Taxes     (16,229)     (18,802)
Income Tax     –      – 
               
Net Loss   $ (16,229)   $ (18,802)
               
               
Net Loss Per Share:              

Basic   $ (.82)   $ (1.05)
Diluted   $ (.82)   $ (1.05)

               
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding:              

Basic     19,791      17,992 
Diluted     19,791      17,992 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INTRUSION INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(In thousands)
 
                                                 

    Common Stock     Treasury Stock    

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss    

Additional
Paid-In-
Capital    

Accumulated
Deficit     Total  

    Dollars     Shares     Dollars     Shares     Dollars     Dollars     Dollars     Dollars  
Balance, December 31, 2020   $ 174      17,428    $ (362)     10    $ (43)   $ 77,187    $ (61,295)   $ 15,661 
Restricted Stock Awards     1      149      –      –      –      (1)     –      – 
Public stock offering, net of fees     13      1,302      –      –      –      5,543      –      5,556 
Stock-based compensation expense     –      –      –      –      –      1,260      –      1,260 
Exercise of stock options     3      256      –      –      –      241      –      244 
Net loss     –      –      –      –      –      –      (18,802)     (18,802)
Balance, December 31, 2021     191      19,135      (362)     10      (43)     84,230      (80,097)     3,919 
Stock-based compensation expense     –      –      –      –      –      1,456      –      1,456 
Exercise of stock options     1      99      –      –      –      66      –      67 
Public stock offering, net of fees     6      541      –      –      –      1,979      –      1,985 
Restricted stock awards     1      103      –      –      –      (1)     –      – 
Tax withholdings related to stock-based compensation awards     –      –      –      –      –      (9)     –      (9)
Registered direct offering proceeds, net of fees     12      1,213      –      –      –      4,284      –      4,296 
Issuance of common stock to terminate operating lease     1      75      –      –      –      199      –      200 
Nonregistered private placement     –      32      –       –       –      100      –      100 
Net loss     –      –      –      –      –      –      (16,229)     (16,229)
Balance, December 31, 2022   $ 212      21,198    $ (362)     10    $ (43)   $ 92,304    $ (96,326)   $ (4,215)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INTRUSION INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

                 
    Year Ended December 31,  
    2022     2021  

Operating Activities:              
Net Loss   $ (16,229)   $ (18,802)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:              
Depreciation and amortization     1,308      780 
Bad debt expense     –      27 
Stock-based compensation     1,456      1,260 
Non-cash lease costs     304      243 
Amortization of debt issuance costs     861      – 
Non-cash interest on notes payable     1,463      – 
Gain on termination/modification of operating lease     (385)     (17)
Gain on extinguishment of debt     –      (635)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:              

Accounts receivable     504      172 
Prepaid expenses and other assets     (1,533)     7 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses     206      218 
Operating lease liabilities     (1,040)     (193)
Deferred revenue     (105)     383 

Net cash used in operating activities     (13,190)     (16,557)
               
Investing Activities:              

Purchases of property and equipment     (307)     (1,063)
Capitalized software development     (1,172)     – 
Purchases of intangible assets – domain name     –      (85)
Net cash used in investing activities     (1,479)     (1,148)

               
Financing Activities:              

Proceeds from note payable, net of original issue discount     10,000      – 
Payments of debt issuance costs     (710)     – 
Principal payments on notes payable     (1,500)     – 
Reduction of finance lease liability     (645)     (699)
Proceeds from public stock offering, net of fees     1,985      5,556 
Proceeds from registered direct offering, net of fees     4,296      – 
Proceeds from non-registered private placement     100      – 
Proceeds from stock options exercised     67      244 
Tax withholdings related to stock-based compensation awards     (9)     – 
Net cash provided by financing activities     13,584      5,101 

               
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents     (1,085)     (12,604)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year     4,100      16,704 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   $ 3,015    $ 4,100 
               
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW ACTIVITIES:              
Cash paid for interest   $ 35    $ 20 
               
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:              
Capitalized assets and capitalized software included in accounts payable   $ 261    $ – 
Common stock issued for lease termination   $ 200    $ – 
Assets acquired under a Right of Use (“ROU”) operating lease   $ –    $ 489 
Assets acquired under a ROU finance lease   $ 5    $ 1,995 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INTRUSION INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
1. Description of Business
 
Intrusion, Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the “Company,” Intrusion,” “Intrusion Inc.”, “we”, “us”, “our”, or similar terms) was organized in
Texas in September 1983 and reincorporated in Delaware in October 1995. Our principal executive offices are located at 101 East Park Boulevard, Suite 1200,
Plano, Texas 75074, and our telephone number is (972) 234-6400. Our website URL is www.intrusion.com.
 
The Company develops, sells, and supports products that protect any-sized company or government organization by fusing advanced threat intelligence with
real-time mitigation to kill cyberattacks as they occur – including Zero-Days. The Company markets and distributes its solutions through a direct sales force
and value-added resellers. The Company’s end-user customers include U.S. federal government entities, state and local government entities, and companies
ranging in size from mid-market to large enterprises.
 
TraceCop (“TraceCop™”) and Savant (“Savant™”) are registered trademarks of Intrusion Inc. The Company has applied for trademark protection for the
Company’s new INTRUSION Shield cybersecurity solution.
 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Basis of Presentation
 
The Company’s consolidated financial statements include its accounts and those of its wholly owned subsidiary and are prepared in accordance with Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”). All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
 
Going Concern
 
As of December 31, 2022, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $3.0 million and a working capital deficit of $7.8 million. The Company has incurred
net operating losses in each of the last three years. The Company’s principal sources of cash for funding operations in 2022 was through the issuance of the two
Streeterville notes which contributed $9.3 million, net of issuance costs (see Note 6), and $6.4 million from the sale and issuance of common stock and
warrants. The Streeterville notes have maturities of September 10, and December 29, 2023. These conditions raise substantial doubt about the ability of the
Company to continue as a going concern. Management plans to fund operations of the Company through additional debt or equity financing. If the Company is
not able to obtain additional debt or equity financing on terms and conditions acceptable to the Company, the Company may be unable to implement the
Company’s business plan, fund its liquidity needs or even continue its operations.
 
Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates are used
for, but not limited to, the accounting for doubtful accounts, sales discounts, sales returns, revenue recognition, warranty costs, depreciation, income taxes and
stock-based compensation. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash
balances that may at times exceed federally insured limits. The Company’s cash balances are maintained at a high-quality financial institution, and the
Company believes the credit risk related to these cash balances is minimal. As of December 31, 2022, and 2021, the Company had approximately $3.0 and $4.1
million, respectively, of cash and cash equivalents.
 
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
 
Trade accounts receivable are stated at the amount the Company expects to collect. The Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated
losses resulting from the inability of its customers to make required payments. Management considers the following factors when determining the collectability
of specific customer accounts: customer creditworthiness, past transaction history with the customer, current economic industry trends, and changes in
customer payment terms. If the financial condition of the Company’s customers were to deteriorate, adversely affecting their ability to make payments,
additional allowances would be required. Based on management’s assessment, the Company provides for estimated uncollectible amounts through a charge to
earnings and an increase to a valuation allowance. Balances that remain outstanding after the Company has used reasonable collection efforts are written off
through a charge to the valuation allowance.
 
The Company’s accounts receivable represents unconditional contract billings for sales per contracts with customers and are classified as current. As of
December 31, 2022, and 2021, and January 1, 2021, the Company had accounts receivable balances of $0.5, $1.0 and $1.2 million, respectively. The Company
did not recognize an allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2022, and 2021.
 
Risk Concentration
 
Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, consists primarily of cash and cash equivalents, investments, and
accounts receivable. Cash and cash equivalent deposits are at risk to the extent that they exceed Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insured amounts. To
minimize risk, the Company places its investments in U.S. government obligations, corporate securities, and money market funds. Substantially all the
Company’s cash, cash equivalents and investments are maintained with one major U.S. financial institution. The Company does not believe that it is subject to
any unusual financial risk with the Company’s banking arrangements. The Company has not experienced any significant losses on its cash and cash
equivalents.
 
The Company sells its products to customers primarily in the U.S. In the future, the Company may sell the Company’s products internationally. Fluctuations in
currency exchange rates and adverse economic developments in foreign countries could adversely affect the Company’s operating results. The Company
performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and generally require no collateral. The Company maintains reserves for potential
credit losses, and such losses, in the aggregate, have historically been minimal.
 
The Company’s operations are concentrated in one area - security software/entity identification. Sales to the U.S. Government through direct and indirect
channels totaled 65.8% of total revenues attributable to seven government customers and 71.4% of total revenues attributable to seven government customers
for the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Three individual government customers and two individual commercial customers during the
year ended December 31, 2022, individually accounted for over 10% of total revenues and during the year ended December 31, 2021, three government
customers and one commercial, individually accounted for over 10% of total revenues. The Company’s similar product and service offerings are not viewed as
individual segments, as the Company’s management analyzes the business as a whole and expenses are not allocated to each product offering.
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Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
 
The Company’s prepaid expenses and other assets balance is primarily related to prepaid insurance, prepaid software, and other subscription services, which
represents the unamortized balance of insurance premiums, or other prepaid services and products. These payments are amortized on a straight-line basis over
the policy or service term.
 
Property and Equipment
 
Equipment, furniture, and fixtures are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets. Such lives vary from 1 to 5 years. Leasehold improvements are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and are amortized on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of estimated useful lives of the assets or the remaining terms of the leases. Such lives vary from 2 to 5 years. Expenditures for major renewals
and betterments that extend the useful lives of property and equipment are capitalized. Repair and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.
 
During 2022, the Company began the capitalization of internally developed software due to implementing the Agile software development methodology which
allowed the Company to accurately track, and record costs associated with new software development and enhancements.
 
Pursuant to ASC Topic 350-40 Internal Use Software Accounting Capitalization, certain development costs related to the Company’s products during the
application development stage are capitalized as part of property and equipment. Costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development are expensed as
incurred. The preliminary stage includes such activities as conceptual formulation of alternatives, evaluation of alternatives, determination of existence of
needed technology, and the final selection of alternatives. Once the application development stage is reached, internal and external costs are capitalized until
the software is complete and ready for its intended use. Capitalized internal use software is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life,
which is generally three years.
 
Depreciation and amortization are recorded as operating expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Depreciation and amortization related to the
Company’s property and equipment balances totaled approximately $0.6 million and $0.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021,
respectively.
 
Long-Lived Assets
 
The Company reviews long-lived assets, including property and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an
asset to future undiscounted cash flows to be generated by the asset. If the carrying value exceeds the future undiscounted cash flows, the assets are written
down to fair value. During the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, there was no impairment of long-lived assets.
 
Leases
 
The Company accounts for leases using the guidance in FASB ASC 842. The Company evaluates new contracts at inception to determine if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period in exchange for periodic payments. A lease exists if the Company obtains substantially all
the economic benefits of an asset, and the Company has the right to direct the use of that asset. When a lease exists, the Company records a right-of-use asset
that represents its right to use the asset over the lease term and a lease liability that represents its obligation to make payments over the lease term. Lease
liabilities are recorded at the sum of future lease payments discounted by the collateralized rate the Company could obtain to lease a similar asset over a similar
period, and right-of-use assets are recorded equal to the corresponding lease liability, plus any prepaid or direct costs. The Company does not recognize leases
with initial terms of 12 months or less.
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Commitments and Contingencies
 
Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines and penalties, or other sources are recorded when it is probable that a
liability has been incurred and the amount of the assessment can be reasonable estimated. The Company is involved in various lawsuits, claims and
administrative proceedings arising in the normal course of business. For additional information, see Note 7 – Commitments and Contingencies.
 
Foreign Currency
 
All assets and liabilities in the balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is other than the U.S. dollar are translated at year-end exchange
rates. All revenues and expenses in the statement of operations of these foreign subsidiaries are translated at average exchange rates for the year. Translation
gains and losses are not included in determining net income but are shown in accumulated other comprehensive loss in the stockholders’ deficit section of the
consolidated balance sheet. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in determining net loss and were not significant.
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 
The Company calculates the fair value of its assets and liabilities which qualify as financial instruments and include additional information in the notes to
consolidated financial statements when the fair value is different than the carrying value of these financial instruments. The estimated fair value of accounts
receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their carrying amounts due to the relatively short maturity of these instruments. Notes payable
and financing and operating leases approximate fair value as they bear market rates of interest. None of these instruments are held for trading purposes.
 
Revenue Recognition
 
The Company recognizes product revenue upon shipment or after meeting certain performance obligations. These products can include hardware, software
subscriptions and consulting services. Most of the Company’s sales are from consulting services. The Company also offers software on a subscription basis
subject to software as a service (”SaaS”). Warranty costs and sales returns have not been material.
 
The Company recognize sales of its consulting services in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 606 whereby revenue from contracts with customers are
recognized once the criteria under the five steps below are met:
 
  i) identification of the contract with a customer;
     
  ii) identification of the performance obligations in the contract;
     
  iii) determination of the transaction price;
     
  iv) allocation of the transaction price to the separate performance obligations; and
     
  v) Recognition of revenue upon satisfaction of a performance obligation.
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Consulting services generally include reporting and are typically done monthly, and revenue is matched accordingly. Product sales may include maintenance
and customer support allocated revenue in an arrangement using estimated selling prices of the delivered goods and services based on a selling price hierarchy
using the relative selling price method. All product offering and service offering market values are readily determined based on current and prior stand-alone
sales. The Company defers and recognize maintenance, updates, and support revenue over the term of the contract period, which is generally one year.
 
Normal payment terms offered to customers, distributors and resellers are net 30 days domestically. The Company does not offer payment terms that extend
beyond one year and rarely does it extend payment terms beyond its normal terms. If certain customers do not meet its credit standards, the Company does
require payments in advance to limit its credit exposure.
 
Shipping and handling costs are billed to the customer and included in revenue. Shipping and handling expenses are included in cost of revenue. The Company
has elected to account for shipping and handling costs as fulfillment costs after the customer obtains control of the goods.
 
With the Company’s newest product, INTRUSION Shield, the Company began offering software on a subscription basis. INTRUSION Shield is a hosted
arrangement subject to software as a service guidance under ASC 606. SaaS arrangements are accounted for as subscription services, not arrangements that
transfer a license of intellectual property.
 
The Company utilizes the five-step process, mentioned above, per FASB ASC Topic 606 to recognize sales and will follow that directive, also, to define
revenue items as individual and distinct. INTRUSION Shield services provided to its customers for a fixed monthly subscription fee include:
 
  · Access to Intrusion’s proprietary software and database to detect and prevent unauthorized access to its clients’ information networks;
  · Use of all software, associated media, printed materials, data, files, online documentation, and any equipment that Intrusion provides for customers to

access the INTRUSION Shield; and
  · Tech support, post contract customer support (PCS) includes daily program releases or corrections provided by Intrusion without additional charge.
 
INTRUSION Shield contracts provide for no other services, and the Company’s customers have no rebates or return rights, nor are any such rights anticipated
to be offered as part of this service.
 
The Company satisfies its performance obligation when its INTRUSION Shield solution is available to detect and prevent unauthorized access to a client’s
information networks. Revenue is recognized monthly over the term of the contract. The Company’s standard initial contract terms automatically renew unless
notice is given 30 days before renewal. Upfront payment of fees is deferred and amortized into income over the period covered by the contract.
 
The Company’s accounts receivable represents unconditional contract billings for sales per contracts with customers and are classified as current assets. As of
December 31, 2022, and 2021, the Company had accounts receivable balance of $0.5 and $1.0 million, respectively. The Company did not recognize an
allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2022, and 2021.
 
The Company classifies its contract assets as receivables because the Company generally has an unconditional right to payment for its sales or services
performed at the end of the reporting period. As a result, the Company had no material contract assets as of December 31, 2022, and 2021.
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Contract liabilities consist of cash payments in advance of the Company satisfying performance obligations and recognizing revenue. The Company currently
classifies contract liabilities as deferred revenue.
 
The following table presents changes in the Company’s contract liability during the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021 (in thousands):
             
    December 31, 2022     December 31, 2021  
Balance at beginning of year   $ 560    $ 177 

Additions     1,877      1,953 
Revenue recognized     (1,982)     (1,570)

Balance at end of year   $ 455    $ 560 
 
Accounting for Stock-based Compensation Awards
 
The Company accounts for share-based compensation awards using the guidance in FASB ASC Topic 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation (“ASC 718”).
The Company’s share-based compensations awards are awarded to directors, officers, and employees. ASC 718 requires all such share-based payments,
including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values. Share-based compensation expense
recognized in the statements of operations for the years ended 2022 and 2021 is based on awards ultimately expected to vest.
 
Research and Development Costs
 
The Company’s research and development of new software products are expensed until the application development stage is obtained. Once the application
development stage is reached, internal and external costs are capitalized until the software is complete and ready for its intended use. The company incurs
research and development costs that relate primarily to the development of new security software, appliances and integrated solutions, and major enhancements
to existing services and products. Research and development costs are comprised primarily of sales and related benefit expenses, contract labor and prototype
and other expenses incurred during research and development efforts.
 
Pursuant to ASC Topic 350-40 Internal Use Software Accounting-Capitalization, software development costs related to the Company’s products during the
application development stage are capitalized.
 
Advertising Expenses
 
The cost of advertising is expensed as incurred or deferred until first use of advertising and expensed ratably over the applicable periods. Advertising expense
was $0.5 million and $1.3 million for 2022 and 2021, respectively.
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Income Taxes
 
Deferred income taxes are determined using the liability method in accordance with FASB ASC 740, Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years
in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. In addition, a valuation allowance is established to reduce any deferred tax asset for which
it is determined that it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.
 
FASB ASC 740 creates a single model to address accounting for uncertainty in tax positions by prescribing a minimum recognition threshold that a tax position
is required to meet before being recognized in the financial statements. FASB ASC 740 also provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification,
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. There are no unrecognized tax benefits to disclose in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
 
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction. On December 31, 2022, tax returns related to fiscal years ended December 31, 2019
through December 31, 2021 remain open to possible examination by most tax authorities while tax returns in a few states remaining open related to fiscal years
ended December 31, 2018 through December 31, 2021. No tax returns are currently under examination by any tax authorities.
 
Net Loss Per Share
 
The Company reports two separate net loss per shares numbers, basic and diluted. Basic net loss attributable to common stockholders per share is computed by
dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders for the year by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the year. Diluted net loss
attributable to common stockholders per share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders for the year by the weighted average
number of common shares and dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding for the year. The common stock equivalents include all common stock issuable
upon the exercise of outstanding options and vesting of restricted stock awards. The aggregate number of common stock equivalents excluded from the diluted
loss per share calculated for the year ended December 31, 2022 totaled 1,317,973 and 901,388, respectively. Since the Company is in a net loss position for the
year ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, basic and dilutive net loss per share is the same.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 
None.
 
3. Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
 
Prepaid expenses and other assets included the following (dollars in thousands): 
             

    December 31,  
    2022     2021  

             
Prepaid insurance   $ 107    $ 105 
Prepaid licenses     98      80 
Employee retention credit receivable     1,363      – 
Prepaid other     309      171 

Total prepaid expenses and other assets   $ 1,877    $ 356 
 
4. Accrued Expenses
 
Accrued expenses consisted of the following (dollars in thousands): 
             

    December 31,  
    2022     2021  

             
Accrued legal and professional fees   $ 189    $ 254 
Accrued payroll     195      211 
Employee benefits payable     36      22 
Other     26      47 

Total accrued expenses   $ 446    $ 534 
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5. Right-of-use Asset and Leasing Liabilities
 
The Company has operating, and finance leases and records right-of-use assets and related lease liabilities as required under ASC 842. The lease liabilities are
determined by the net present value of total lease payments and amortized over the life of the lease. All obligations under the Company’s lease agreements are
designed to terminate with the last scheduled payment. The Company leases are for the following types of assets:
 
  · Computer hardware and copy machines – The Company’s finance lease right-of-use assets consist of computer hardware and copy machines. These

leases have a three-year life and are in various stages of completion.
     
  · Office space – The Company’s operating lease right-of-use assets include rental agreements for its offices in Plano, TX and a data service center in

Allen, TX. The Plano offices operating lease liability was modified during the year ended December 31, 2021, to add an additional floor of office
space and terminate the prior lease. The modified lease has a life of ten months as of December 31, 2022. The data service center operating lease
liability has a life of two years and ten months as of December 31, 2022.

 
Lease balances are recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as follows (in thousands): 
             

    December 31,  
    2022     2021  

Assets:            
Finance leases, right-of-use assets, net   $ 1,048    $ 1,709 
Operating leases, right-of-use assets, net     504      808 

Total lease assets     1,552      2,517 
Liabilities:              
Current:              

Finance leases liabilities, current portion     667      644 
Operating leases liabilities, current portion     294      935 

Non-current:              
Finance leases liability, noncurrent portion     10      673 
Operating lease liability, noncurrent portion     231      1,250 

Total lease liabilities   $ 1,202    $ 3,502 
               
Weighted average remaining lease term – Finance leases     1.58 years      2.66 years 
Weighted average remaining lease term – Operating leases     2.20 years      2.94 years 
Weighted average discount rate – Finance leases     3.37%      3.35% 
Weighted average discount rate – Operating leases     3.42%      4.70% 

 
As the implicit rate is not readily determinable for the Company's lease agreement, the Company uses an estimated incremental borrowing rate to determine the
initial present value of lease payments. This discount rate for the lease approximates federal reserves’ prime rate.
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The gross amount of assets recorded under finance leases was $3.2 million as of the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021.
   
Certain of the Company’s lease agreements have options to extend the lease after the expiration of the initial term. The Company recognizes the cost of a lease
over the expected total term of the lease, including optional renewal periods that the Company can reasonably expect to exercise. The Company does not have
material obligations whereby the Company guarantees a residual value on assets the Company leases, nor do the Company’s lease agreements impose
restrictions or covenants that could affect its ability to make distributions.
 
Schedule of Items Appearing on the Statement of Operations (in thousands): 
             

    Year Ended  
    December 30, 2022     December 31, 2021  

Operating expense:              
Amortization expense – Finance ROU   $ 665    $ 306 
Lease expense – Operating ROU     304      341 

Other expense:              
Interest expense – Finance ROU     35      20 

Total Lease Expense   $ 1,004    $ 667 
 
Other supplemental information related to the Company’s leases are as follows: 
             

    Year Ended  
    December 30, 2022     December 31, 2021  

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:            
Operating cash flows for operating leases   $ (1,085)   $ 33 
Operating cash flows for finance leases     665      306 
Financing cash flows for finance leases     (645)     (699)

 
Future minimum lease obligations consisted of the following as of December 31, 2022 (in thousands): 
                
    Operating     Finance        
Year ending December 31,   ROU Leases     ROU Leases     Total  
2023   $ 307    $ 680    $ 987 
2024     123      8      131 
2025     115      3      118 
    $ 545    $ 691    $ 1,236 
Less Interest*     (20)     (14)       
    $ 525    $ 677        
 
* Interest is imputed for operating ROU leases and classified as lease expense and is included in operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated

statements of operations.
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6. Notes Payable
 
On March 10, 2022, Intrusion Inc. entered into an unsecured loan agreement with Streeterville Capital, LLC whereby the Company could draw up to $10.0
million in two separate tranches of $5.0 million through the issuance of two separate promissory notes of $5.4 million each, with an initial interest rate of 7%,
subject to some increases in the case of, among other things, an event of default. On March 10, 2022, the Company received $4.6 million in net funds from the
first tranche (First Note) pursuant to a promissory note executed contemporaneously with the execution of the loan agreement. On June 29, 2022, the Company
received an additional $4.7 million in net funds from the second tranche (Second Note) pursuant to a promissory note. Each note has an 18-month maturity,
may be prepaid subject to varying prepayment premiums, and may be redeemed at any time after six months into the term of such note in amounts up to $0.5
million per calendar month upon the noteholder’s election. The Company has the option, in its sole discretion, to satisfy any redemption demands in cash or
shares of its common stock that will be issued in an amount equal to the dollar amount of the redemption demand divided by the number that represents 85% of
the average of the two lowest daily volume weighted average prices of common stock over a fifteen-day trailing period. This option to settle in shares at an
15% discount is deemed a beneficial conversion feature (“BCF”).
 
The loan agreement and accompanying notes are subject to standard and customary events of default, including, without limitation, the Company’s continued
listing on the Nasdaq or New York Stock Exchange. While the notes remain outstanding, the Company will be subject to certain conditions and restrictions,
including, without limitation the following: the noteholder’s right to consent to any future variable rate transactions (excluding ATMs, equity offerings, or
private placements without market adjustable features) and any debt (excluding bank loans, lines of credit, mortgagees, leases, or asset backed loans); the
noteholder’s right to participate in any debt or equity financings, excluding (ATMs, loans, lines of credit, mortgagees, leases, or asset backed loans); a
prohibition on the Company’s ability to extend or enter into any agreement restricting its ability to issue common stock under the notes; as well as a prohibition
on its ability to permit any other lender to participate alongside the noteholder via any debt financing structures.
 
The Company evaluated both the First and Second Note in accordance with ASC 480 “Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity” because the promissory note (1)
embodies an option redemption obligation, (2) may require the Company to settle the optional redemption obligation by issuing a variable number of its
common shares, and (3) is based solely on a fixed monetary amount known at inception.
 
The lender does not benefit if the fair value of the Company’s Common Stock increases and does not bear the risk that the fair value of the Company’s
Common Stock might decrease. In accordance with ASC 480, the promissory notes have been recorded as a liability and the company is recording interest
expense over the term of the promissory note, using the interest method from ASC 835-30, to accrete the carrying amount of the promissory note up to the
redemption common stock settlement amount.
 
On March 10, 2022, the Company recorded debt issue costs of $0.7 million as an offset to the promissory note to be amortized over the 18-month term
associated with the First Note. On June 29, 2022, the Company recorded debt issue costs of $0.7 million as an offset to the promissory note to be amortized
over the 18-month term associated with the Second Note. As of December 31, 2022, the balance of unamortized debt issuance costs for both notes were $0.5
million. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded $0.9 million for amortization of the debt discounts related to both notes to interest
expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations. The effective interest rate of the notes payable including amortization of the debt issuance
costs and accretion of BCF is 35.19%.
 
For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recorded $1.5 million of interest expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations.
The interest recorded associated with the unsecured promissory notes increases the associated notes payable on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet.
The balances on the notes payable mature in September and December 2023.
 
On January 11, 2023, the Company amended the promissory notes issued pursuant to the unsecured loan agreement with Streeterville Capital, LLC whereby
the noteholder agreed to waive their redemption rights through March 31, 2023, in exchange for a fee equal to 3.75% of the outstanding principal balance
which was added to the outstanding indebtedness.
 
 
 

  F-15  



 

 
7. Commitments and Contingencies
 
Change of Control and Severance Agreements
 
Certain members of the Company’s management are parties to severance and change of control agreements with the Company. The severance and change in
control agreements provide those individuals with severance payments in certain circumstances and prohibit such individuals from, among other things,
competing with the Company during his or her employment. In addition, the severance and change of control agreements prohibit subject individuals from,
among other things, disclosing confidential information about the Company and its products or interfering with a client or customer of the Company, in each
case during his or her employment and for certain periods (including indefinite periods) following the termination of such person’s employment.
 
Legal Proceedings
 
The Company is periodically involved in various litigation claims arising in the normal course of business. The Company believes these actions are routine and
incidental to the business. While the outcome of these actions cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company does not believe that any will have a material
adverse impact on the Company’s business.
 
Class Action Litigation
 
On April 16, 2021, a class action lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court, Eastern District of Texas, Sherman Division, captioned Celeste v.
Intrusion Inc. et al., Case No. 4:21-cv-00307 (E.D. Tex.) against the Company, the Company’s now-former chief financial officer, and now-former chief
executive officer alleging, among other things, that the defendants made false and/or misleading statements or omissions about the Company’s business,
operations, and prospects in violation of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Rule 10b-5 promulgated
thereunder, as well as Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. The Celeste lawsuit claimed compensatory damages and legal fees.

 
On May 14, 2021, a related class action lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court, Eastern District of Texas, Sherman Division, captioned Neely v.
Intrusion Inc., et al., Case No. 4:12-cv-00374 (E.D. Tex.) against the Company, the Company’s now-former chief financial officer, and now-former chief
executive officer. The Neely lawsuit alleged the same violations under the federal securities laws as those alleged in the Celeste lawsuit. The Neely lawsuit also
sought compensatory damages and legal fees.

 
On November 23, 2021, the Court consolidated the Celeste and Neely actions, and appointed a lead plaintiff and lead plaintiff’s counsel. The lead plaintiff filed
his amended complaint on February 7, 2022. The amended complaint named the following additional parties as named defendants: Mr. Michael Paxton, a
former director and executive officer; Mr. Gary Davis, a former officer; Mr. Joe Head, the current chief technology officer, and a former director; and Mr.
James Gero, a current director and chair of the compensation committee.

 
The parties to the consolidated action held a mediation on April 5, 2022, at the conclusion of which the parties executed a settlement term sheet setting forth the
material terms associated with the resolution of the action, subject to the preparation of formal documents and a plan of distribution approved by the Court. The
settlement agreement was subject to certain terms and conditions and received final approval by the Court on December 16, 2022. At that time, a final
judgment was entered dismissing the case, with the Court retaining jurisdiction over the action for purposes of enforcing the terms of the class settlement
agreement. The $3.3 million settlement was paid by the Company’s insurance provider under its insurance policy as the Company’s retention had previously
been exhausted.
 
The lead plaintiff in the class action filed a motion for distribution of settlement funds on February 21, 2023. The Court approved the parties’ class action
settlement and plan of allocation on March 22, 2023 and cancelled the previously-rescheduled March 31, 2023, hearing on the motion for distribution, all
remaining matters in the class action then-pending having been fully and finally adjudicated.
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Securities Investigation
 
On August 8, 2021, the Company received a notification from the Securities and Exchange Commission, Division of Enforcement, that it was investigating
captioned In the Matter of Intrusion Inc. and requesting the Company produce certain documents and information. On November 9, 2021, the Securities and
Exchange Commission served a subpoena to the Company in connection with this investigation which formally requested substantially similar information as
in the prior request. The Company is continuing to comply with the requests and are cooperating in the investigation. The Company can offer no assurances as
to the outcome of this investigation or its potential effect on the Company or its results of operations.
 
Stockholder Derivative Claim
 
On June 3, 2022, a verified stockholder derivative complaint was filed in U.S. District Court, District of Delaware by plaintiff Nathan Prawitt (the “Plaintiff
Stockholder”) on behalf of Intrusion against certain of the Company’s current and former officers and directors (the “Defendants”). Plaintiff alleges that
Defendants through various actions breached their fiduciary duties, wasted corporate assets, and unjustly enriched Defendants by (a) incurring costs and
expenses in connection with the ongoing SEC investigation, (b) incurring costs and expenses to defend the Company with respect to the consolidated class
action, (c) settling class-wide liability with respect to the consolidated class action, as well as ancillary claims regarding sales of the Company’s common stock
by certain of the Defendants. The Plaintiff is seeking remedial actions including improvements in the Company’s corporate governance and internal control
policies and reimbursement of legal costs. While the Company is not a named defendant, but a nominal plaintiff in the stockholder derivative claim, the
Company will be providing the financial and other assistance for each of the Defendants that the Company is obligated to provide under the Company’s
Articles of Incorporation, the Company’s Bylaws, as well as individual indemnifications agreements that are in effect between, the Company and each of the
Defendants.

 
In addition to these legal proceedings, the Company is subject to various other claims that may arise in the ordinary course of business. The Company does not
believe that any claims exist where the outcome of such matters would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial
position, operating results, or cash flows. However, there can be no assurance such legal proceedings will not have a material impact on the Company’s future
results.

 
8. Common Stock
 
ATM Offering
 
In August of 2021, the Company engaged B. Riley Securities, Inc. to act as sales agent under the Company’s at-the-market program, which allows us to
potentially sell up to $50.0 million of its common stock on a delayed or continuous basis using a shelf registration statement on Form S-3, which the Company
initially filed on August 5, 2021. The shelf registration became effective on August 16, 2021. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company has
received proceeds of approximately $2.0 million net of fees from the sale of common stock pursuant to the program. Since the program was initiated, the
Company has received proceeds of approximately $7.5 million net of fees from the sales of 1,843 thousand shares of common stock pursuant to the program.
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Registered Direct Offering
 
On September 12, 2022, the Company entered in a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with certain purchasers to issue and sell to the
purchasers an aggregate of 1,378,677 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Shares”) each of which was coupled with a warrant to purchase one share
of common stock (the “Warrants”) at an aggregate offering price of $4.29 per share and warrant, such offering is hereinafter referred to as its “registered direct
offering”. Each warrant has an exercise price of $5.22 per share of common stock, subject to adjustment for stock splits, reverse stock splits, stock dividends
and similar transactions and is exercisable from the date of its issuance through September 14, 2027. The Company delivered 939,284 Shares and Warrants on
or about September 14, 2022. After September 30, 2022, the company issued an additional 273,309 Shares and related Warrants as a result of delayed closings.
On November 10, 2022, the Company, reached an agreement with the sole remaining delayed basis investor in the registered direct offering to reduce the
purchaser’s subscription by $0.7 million and, accordingly, reduce the Company’s obligation to issue securities. Following the final closing, the Company had
received from its registered direct offering total aggregate proceeds of $5.2 million in exchange for the issuance of an aggregate of 1,212,593 shares of
common stock and warrants to purchase 1,212,593 shares of common stock.

 
9. Stock-Based Compensation
 
The Company accounts for equity-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation, which requires that compensation
related to all equity-based awards be recognized in the consolidated financial statements. Equity-based compensation cost is valued at fair value at the date of
grant, and the grant date fair value is recognized as expense over each award’s requisite service period with a corresponding increase to equity or liability based
on the terms of each award and the appropriate accounting treatment under ASC 718.
 
The Company had three stock-based compensation plans on December 31, 2022, and 2021. These plans which are described below, were developed to retain,
and attract key employees and directors.
 
The 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”)
 
During 2021, the Company added a new incentive 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan. The purpose of the 2021 Plan is to provide a means through which the
Company may attract and retain key personnel and to provide a means whereby directors, officers, employees, consultants and advisors of the Company can
acquire and maintain an equity interest in the Company, or be paid incentive compensation, including incentive compensation measured by reference to the
value of common stock, thereby strengthening their commitment to the welfare of the Company and aligning their interests with those of the Company’s
stockholders.
 
The 2021 Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors and permits the grant of cash and equity-based awards,
which may be awarded in the form of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, performance awards, other stock-based awards, and
other cash-based awards.
 
The aggregate number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued or used for reference purposes or with respect to which Awards may be granted under the
2021 Plan shall not exceed 2,500,000 shares and is subject to any increase or decrease, which shares may be either authorized and unissued Common Stock or
Common Stock held in or acquired for the treasury of the Company or both.
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The 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (“the “2015 Plan”)
 
On March 19, 2015, the Board approved the 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”), which was approved by the stockholders on May 14, 2015. The 2015
Plan serves as a replacement for the 2005 Plan which expired by its terms on June 14, 2015. The approval of the 2015 Plan had no effect on the 2005 Plan or
any options granted pursuant to the plan. All options will continue with their existing terms and will be subject to the 2005 Plan. Further, the Company will not
be able to re-issue any option which is cancelled or terminated under the 2005 Plan. The 2015 Plan provided for the issuance of up to 600,000 shares of
common stock upon exercise of options granted pursuant to the 2015 Plan.
 
The 2015 Plan consists of three separate equity incentive programs: the Discretionary Option Grant Program; the Stock Issuance Program; and the Automatic
Option Grant Program for non-employee Board members. Officers and employees, non-employee Board members and independent contractors are eligible to
participate in the Discretionary Option Grant and Stock Issuance Programs. Participation in the Automatic Option Grant Program is limited to non-employee
members of the Board. Each non-employee Board member will receive an option grant for 10,000 shares of common stock upon initial election or appointment
to the Board, provided that such individual has not previously been employed by the Company in the preceding three (3) months. In addition, on the date of
each annual stockholders’ meeting, each Board member will automatically be granted an option to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock, provided he or she
has served as a non-employee Board member for at least three months.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Board of Directors (“Board”) approved a new clause to the 2015 Plan, to accelerate the vesting of any unvested
equity grants held by outside directors upon their retirement from the Board. Pursuant to the approval of the acceleration clause, during the second quarter of
2021, the equity awards held by two outside board members who retired from the Board in May 2021 became fully vested. The Company accounts for the
acceleration of the related stock options as a modification of the option award under ASC 718. Accordingly, the Company recognized incremental stock
compensation expense of approximately $0.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2021.
 
The 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2005 Plan”)
 
On March 17, 2005, the Board approved the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2005 Plan”), which was approved by the stockholders on June 14, 2005. The 2005
Plan provided for the issuance of up to 750,000 shares of common stock upon exercise of options granted pursuant to the 2005 Plan. On May 30, 2007, the
stockholders approved an Amendment to the 2005 Plan that increased this amount by 750,000 for a total of 1,500,000 shares of common stock that may be
issued upon the exercise of options granted pursuant to the 2005 Plan. On May 29, 2008, and May 21, 2009, the stockholders approved an increase of 500,000
shares, respectively, of common stock that may be issued pursuant to the 2005 Plan for a total of 2,500,000 shares. On May  20, 2010, the stockholders
approved an additional increase of 500,000 shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to the 2005 Plan for a total of 3,000,000 shares. On May 19,
2011, the stockholders approved an additional increase of 400,000 shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to the 2005 Plan for a total of
3,400,000 shares. Finally, on May 17, 2012, the stockholders approved an additional increase of 300,000 shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant
to the 2005 Plan for a total of 3,700,000 shares.
 
The Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors determines for all employee options, the term of each option, option exercise price within
limits set forth in the plans, number of shares for which each option is granted and the rate at which each option is exercisable (generally ratably over one, three
or five years from grant date). However, the exercise price of any stock option may not be less than the fair market value of the shares on the date granted (or
less than 110% of the fair market value in the case of optionees holding more than 10% of its voting stock of the Company), and the term cannot exceed ten
years (five years for incentive stock options granted to holders of more than 10% of the Company’s voting stock).
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Common shares reserved for future issuance, including outstanding options, unvested restricted stock and shares available for future grant under all the stock
options plans are as follows:
 

      

(In thousands)  

Common Shares
Reserved for Future

Issuance  
       
2021 Plan     2,403 
2015 Plan     530 
2005 Plan     162 
Total     3,095 
 
Total compensation expense in operating expense on the statement of operations of $1.5 and $1.3 million during the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021,
respectively.
 
Restricted Stock Awards
 
During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company issued new Restricted Stock Awards (RSAs) under the 2021 Plan in the amount of $0.4 million in
value of restricted stock to each of the Company’s outside directors and certain members of management, with a valuation to be based on the closing price of
the Company’s common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market. Accordingly, 131,580 shares were granted and are expected to fully vest in one year on the
anniversary of the grant date.
 
The following table summarizes the activities for the Company’s unvested RSAs in Intrusion Inc. stock for the year ended December 31, 2022:
             

      Unvested Restricted Stock Awards  

     
Number of Shares

(in thousands)      

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date
Fair Value  

Unvested as of December 31, 2021     149    $ 5.54 
Granted     132      2.66 
Vested     (97)     6.41 
Forfeited/canceled     (26)     3.85 

Unvested as of December 31, 2022     158    $ 2.88 
 
The Company recognized compensation expense related to its RSAs of $0.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2022, there
was $0.2 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested RSAs. This amount is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
0.7 years.
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Stock Option Awards
 
The Company also granted option awards under the 2015 Plan to its employees with the option price for each option set at the closing price for the Company’s
Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on the grant date during the year ended December 31, 2022.
 
A summary of the Company’s stock option activity and related information for the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021 is as follows: 

                   
    2022     2021  

   

Number of
Options (in
thousands)    

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price    

Number of
Options (in
thousands)    

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  
                         
Outstanding at beginning of year     617    $ 6.47      1,035    $ 2.87 
Granted     334      3.63      606      12.99 
Exercised     (99)     0.67      (257)     0.97 
Forfeited     (156)     8.16      (634)     9.81 
Expired     (28)     13.47      (133)     2.82 
Outstanding at end of year     668    $ 5.22      617    $ 6.47 
Options exercisable at end of year     281    $ 4.13      317    $ 1.56 
 
Information related to stock options outstanding on December 31, 2022, is summarized below: 
                          
      Options Outstanding       Options Exercisable  

Range of Exercise
Prices    

Outstanding at
12/31/21 (in
thousands)      

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life

(years)      

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price      

Exercisable at
12/31/21 (in
thousands)      

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  
                                    
$0.40 - $0.48     88      0.81    $ .47      88    $ .47 
$1.15 - $2.80     98      1.57    $ 1.78      98    $ 1.78 
$3.45 - $4.75     331      9.17    $ 3.72      35    $ 4.38 
$8.72 - $12.71     135      8.27    $ 12.21      53    $ 11.87 
$23.52 - $23.52     17      8.17    $ 23.52      7    $ 23.52 
                                    
$0.40 - $23.52 (all)     668      6.73    $ 5.22      281    $ 4.13 
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Summarized information about outstanding stock options as of December 31, 2022, that are expected to vest in the future as well as stock options that are fully
vested and currently exercisable, are as follows: 
           

   

Outstanding Stock
Options (Expected to

Vest)    
Options that are

Exercisable  
As of December 31, 2022              

Number of outstanding options (in thousands)     688      281 
Weighted average remaining contractual life     6.73 years      3.39 years 
Weighted average exercise price per share   $ 5.22    $ 4.13 
Intrinsic value (in thousands)   $ 372    $ 372 

 
The fair values of option awards were estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions for fiscal years
ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively: 
           

    2022     2021  
             
Weighted average grant date fair value   $ 3.32    $ 8.09 
Weighted average assumptions used:              

Expected dividend yield     0.00%      0.00% 
Risk-free interest rate     2.17%      0.70% 
Expected volatility     129.54%      66.72% 
Expected life (in years)     6.76      4.29 

 
Expected volatility is based on historical volatility and in part on implied volatility. The expected term considers the contractual term of the option as well as
historical exercise and forfeiture behavior. The risk-free interest rate is based on the rates in effect on the grant date for U.S. Treasury instruments with
maturities matching the relevant expected term of the award.
 
The Company recognized compensation expense related to its stock options of $0.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2022. As of December 31,
2022, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested options not yet recognized in the statement of operations totaled approximately $0.8
million and the weighted average period over which these awards are expected to vest was 2.12 years.
 
10. Employee Benefit Plan
 
Employee 401(k) Plan
 
The Company has a plan known as the Intrusion Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan (the “Plan”) to provide retirement and incidental benefits for the Company’s
employees. The Plan covers substantially all employees who meet minimum age and service requirements. As allowed under Section 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code (“IRS”), the Plan provides tax deferred salary deductions for eligible employees.
 
Employees may contribute the lesser of 1% to 90% of their annual compensation to the Plan, limited to a maximum amount as set by the IRS. Participants who
are over the age of 50 may contribute an additional amount of their salary per year, as defined annually by the IRS. The Company matches employee
contributions at the rate of 0.25% per each 1% of contribution on the first 4% of compensation. Matching contributions to the Plan were approximately $0.1
million each for the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021.
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11. Related Party Transactions
 
During 2022, the Company retained legal services of a third-party law firm for which the Company’s Chief Executive Officer is a senior advisor. The Company
recognized $0.3 and $0.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 respectively in general and administrative expense on the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. On December 31, 2022 and 2021, $0.1 and $0.0 million payable to the third-party law firm was included in accounts payable, trade
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The rates paid for legal services to the third-party firm were comparable to rates paid to other law firms providing legal
services to the Company.
 
12. Income Taxes
 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets (liabilities) as of December 31, 2022, and 2021
are as follows (in thousands): 
             

    December 31  
    2022     2021  

             
Net operating loss carryforwards   $ 15,994    $ 22,497 
Net operating loss carryforwards of foreign subsidiaries     56      56 
Depreciation expense     (73)     (94)
Stock-based compensation expense     349      52 
Other     830      544 

Net deferred tax assets     17,156      23,055 
Valuation allowance for net deferred tax assets     (17,156)     (23,055)
Net deferred tax assets, net of allowance   $ –    $ – 

 
Deferred tax assets are required to be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. Realization of the future benefits related to the deferred tax assets is dependent on many factors, including the Company’s ability to generate taxable
income within the near to medium term. Management has considered these factors in determining the valuation allowance for 2022 and 2021.
 
The differences between the provision for income taxes and income taxes computed using the federal statutory rate for the years ended December 31, 2022, and
2021 are as follows (in thousands): 
             

    2022     2021  
             
Reconciliation of income tax benefit to statutory rate:              

Income benefit at statutory rate   $ (3,409)   $ (3,948)
State income taxes (benefit), net of federal income tax benefit     (107)     (331)
Permanent differences     89      (206)
Change in valuation allowance     (5,899)     2,458 
Expiring federal net operating losses     9,745      – 
Other     (419)     2,027 

Income tax provision   $ –    $ – 
 
On December 31, 2022, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $76.1 million for income tax purposes that begin to expire
in 2022 and are subject to the ownership change limitations under Internal Revenue Code Section 382.
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13. Cares Act Employee Retention Credit Receivable and SBA Paycheck Protection Program Loan
 
Interest and other income include $2.0 million, net of fees resulting from ERC claimed on amended IRS quarterly federal tax returns (“941s”) filed during the
third quarter. The ERC was established by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (“Cares Act”). The Cares Act allows relief to business
affected by the coronavirus pandemic, by providing payments to employers for qualified wages. The Company amended 941s for the periods from April 1,
2020, to September 31, 2021. On December 31, 2022, the Company had $1.4 million in receivables remaining outstanding included in prepaid expenses and
other assets.
 
On March 27, 2020, the U.S. federal government enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”), which included the
provision for a PPP administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”). The PPP allows qualifying businesses to borrow up to $10 million
calculated based on qualifying payroll costs. The loan was guaranteed by the federal government and did not require collateral. On April  30, 2020, the
Company entered into a PPP Loan with Silicon Valley Bank, pursuant to the PPP under CARES Act for a principal amount of $0.6 million. The PPP Loan was
to mature on April 30, 2022, and bear interest at a rate of 1.0% per annum. The PPP Loan funds were received on April 30, 2020. The PPP Loan contained
events of default and other provisions customary for a loan of this type. The PPP provided that (1) the use of PPP Loan amount shall be limited to certain
qualifying expenses, (2) 100% of the principal amount of the loan is guaranteed by the SBA and (3) an amount up to the full principal amount plus accrued
interest may qualify for loan forgiveness in accordance with the terms of CARES Act.
 
The Company utilized the full proceeds of the PPP Loan in accordance with the provisions of the CARES Act and submitted the PPP Loan Forgiveness
Application. On April 7, 2021, the Company received notice from SBA that the PPP Loan and accrued interest was forgiven in full. As a result, the Company
recorded a gain in the extinguishment of debt of $0.6 million in interest and other income on its consolidated statements of operations during the year ended
December 31, 2021.
 
14. Correction of Immaterial Errors

 
During the year ending December 31, 2022, management identified and corrected certain immaterial errors in the Company’s historical financial statements
associated with the cost of revenues provided by a subcontractor. The errors understated the cost of revenue and overstated the sales and marketing operating
expenses by equal amounts in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The error had no impact on operating losses, net losses, and net loss per share nor any
other financial statement amount. Further these errors had no impact on the consolidated balance sheets, statements of changes in stockholders’ equity (deficit),
and statement of cash flows. These corrections do not affect any of the metrics used to calculate and evaluate management’s compensation and had no impact
on bonuses, commissions, stock-based compensation, or any other employee renumeration. Historical amounts have been corrected and are presented on a
comparable basis.

 
The below table presents the effect of the correction for the year ended December 31, 2021: 
                   
    Year Ended December 31, 2021  
    As Reported     Adjustments     As Corrected  
Revenue   $ 7,277    $ –    $ 7,277 
Cost of Revenue     2,625      996      3,621 
                      
Gross Profit     4,652      (996)     3,656 
                      
Operating Expenses                     

Sales and marketing     11,931      (996)     10,935 
Research and development     6,328      –      6,328 
General and administrative     5,896      –      5,896 

                      
Operating Loss   $ (19,503)   $ –    $ (19,503)
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15. Subsequent Events.
 
On January 11, 2023, the Company amended the promissory notes issued pursuant to the unsecured loan agreement with Streeterville Capital, LLC whereby
the noteholder agreed to waive their redemption rights through March 31, 2023, in exchange for a fee equal to 3.75% of the outstanding principal balance
which was added to the outstanding indebtedness.
 
On February 23, 2023, the Company entered into a note purchase agreement with Streeterville Capital, LLC (“Streeterville”), pursuant to which, among other
things, Streeterville purchased from the Company a promissory note (the “Note”) in the aggregate principal amount of $1.4 million plus certain reimbursed
expenses in exchange for $1.3 million to the Company. Under the Note, the Company shall make principal payments to Streeterville in the amount of $50
thousand per week each week prior to its maturity on March 31, 2023. No interest accrues on the balance of the Note prior to its maturity. In connection with
the issuance of the Note, the Company and Streeterville also entered into a security agreement, which provides, according to its term, a security interest in all
employee retention credits or other funds still owed or otherwise payable to the Company under the Cares Act. The Company received payment for the ERC
owed to Intrusion on March 13, 2023, and on March 14, 2023, the Company repaid in full and in advance of the maturity date the secured promissory note with
Streeterville.
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EXHIBIT 10.18
 

INTRUSION, INC.
2021 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN

 
RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD NOTICE

 
Participant has been granted a Restricted Stock Award in accordance with the terms set forth in this Award Notice, and subject to the terms and conditions of
the Plan and the Restricted Stock Award Agreement to which this Notice is attached. Capitalized terms used and not defined in this Award Notice will have the
meanings set forth in the Restricted Stock Award Agreement and the Plan.
 
 
Participant Name Number of Shares Awarded   Price per Share at Date of Grant   Grant Date

             
[[FIRSTNAME]]   [[SHARESGRANTED]]   [[GRANTPRICE]]   [[GRANTDATE]]
[[LASTNAME]]            
 
 
Vesting Schedule
[[ALLVESTSEGS]]
 

 
Vesting of the Award as specified in the chart above is subject to Participant’s continued employment or service through the 1 year anniversary of the Date of
Grant. On each vesting date, restrictions shall lapse with respect to the number of shares of Restricted Stock equal to the number set forth above, multiplied by
the fraction set forth above.
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INTRUSION, INC.

2021 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN
 

RESTRICTED STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT
 

THIS AWARD AGREEMENT, effective as of the Date of Grant (as defined below), is between INTRUSION, Inc., a Delaware corporation (together
with its successors and assigns, the “Company”), and the individual listed in the Award Notice as the “Participant”. Capitalized terms have the meaning set
forth in this Award Agreement, or, if not otherwise defined herein, in the INTRUSION, INC. 2021 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN (as it may be amended, the
“Plan”).
 

WHEREAS, the Company has adopted the Plan to provide additional incentive to certain employees and directors of the Company and its
Subsidiaries; and

 
WHEREAS, the Committee has determined to grant to the Participant an Award of Restricted Stock to encourage the Participant’s efforts toward the

continuing success of the Company.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:
 

1.        Grant of Restricted Stock.
 

(a)        The Company grants to the Participant an award of [[SHARESGRANTED]] shares of Restricted Stock, subject to adjustment pursuant to
Sections 3 and 4 (the “Award”) and the execution and return of this Award Agreement by the Participant (or the Participant’s estate, if applicable) to the
Company as provided in Section 7.
 

(b)        The Restricted Stock issued pursuant to this Award Agreement shall be issued in the form of book entry Shares in the name of the Participant
immediately following the Date of Grant.
 

(c)        The Restricted Stock issued under this Award Agreement may not be sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of and may not be pledged or
otherwise hypothecated until the restrictions on such Restricted Stock shall have lapsed in the manner provided in Section 3 and Section 4(a).
 

(d)        This Award Agreement shall be construed in accordance and consistent with, and subject to, the provisions of the Plan (the provisions of which
are incorporated by reference) and, except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Award Agreement, the capitalized terms used in this Award Agreement shall
have the same definitions as set forth in the Plan.
 

2.        Restriction Period. The Restriction Period shall be the 1 year period that starts with the Date of Grant and that ends on the 1 year anniversary
of the Date of Grant.
 

3.        Lapse of Restrictions. Except as provided in Section 4 below, All of the number of Shares of Restricted Stock issued under this Award
Agreement (rounded down to the nearest whole Share, if necessary) shall vest, and the restrictions with respect to such Restricted Stock shall lapse, on each of
the first anniversaries of the Date of Grant (each such date is a “Vesting Date”).
 

4.        Effect of Certain Terminations of Employment or Service Prior to Vesting Date.
 

(a)        If the Participant’s employment or service to the Company terminates as a result of the Participant’s death, Disability or if the Participant is
terminated without Cause in connection with a Change in Control, in each case if such termination occurs on or after the Date of Grant, all Shares of Restricted
Stock (other than Shares that have previously been forfeited) which have not become vested in accordance with Section 3 or Section 4(a) shall vest, and the
restrictions on such Restricted Stock shall lapse, as of the date of such termination.
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(b)       Termination of Employment or Service. If the Participant’s employment or service terminates for any reason other than as described in Section

4(a) above prior to the Vesting Date, the Award shall automatically terminate and all Shares of Restricted Stock which have not become vested in accordance
with Section 3 or Section 4(a) shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company.
 

(c)        Misconduct. If prior to the Vesting Date the Participant has (i) used for profit or disclosed to unauthorized persons, confidential information or
trade secrets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) breached any contract with or violated any fiduciary obligation to the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, or (iii) engaged in unlawful trading in the securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or of another company based on information gained
as a result of that Participant’s employment with, or status as a director to, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (each of (i), (ii) and (iii), an “Act of
Misconduct”), the Award shall automatically terminate and the Participant shall not be entitled to receive any Shares of Restricted Stock under Section 4 or
otherwise under this Award Agreement.
 

5.        Delivery of Restricted Stock.
 

(a)        Except as otherwise provided in Section 5(b), evidence of book entry Shares with respect to Restricted Stock in respect of which the
restrictions have lapsed pursuant to Section 3 or Section 4(a) or, if requested by the Participant prior to such lapse of restrictions, a stock certificate with respect
to such Restricted Stock, shall be delivered to the Participant as soon as practicable following the date on which the restrictions on such Restricted Stock have
lapsed, free of all restrictions under this Award Agreement.
 

(b)        Evidence of book entry Shares with respect to Restricted Stock in respect of which the restrictions have lapsed upon the Participant’s death
pursuant to Section 4(a) or, if requested by the executors or administrators of the Participant’s estate upon such lapse of restrictions, a stock certificate with
respect to such Restricted Stock, shall be delivered to the executors or administrators of the Participant’s estate as soon as practicable following the Company’s
receipt of notification of the Participant’s death, free of all restrictions under this Award Agreement.
 

6.        Dividends and Voting Rights. Upon issuance of the Restricted Stock, the Participant shall have all of the rights of a stockholder with respect
to such Restricted Stock, including the right to vote the Restricted Stock and to receive all dividends or other distributions paid or made with respect thereto;
provided, however, that dividends or distributions declared or paid on the Restricted Stock by the Company may, in the discretion of the Committee, be
deferred and reinvested in Restricted Stock based on the Fair Market Value of a Share of Common Stock on the date such dividend or distribution is paid or
made (provided that no fractional Shares will be issued), and the additional Restricted Stock thus acquired shall be subject to the same restrictions on transfer,
forfeiture and vesting schedule as the Restricted Stock in respect of which such dividends or distributions were made.
 

7.        Execution of Award Agreement. The Restricted Stock granted to the Participant pursuant to the Award shall be subject to the Participant’s
execution and return of this Award Agreement to the Company or its designee (including by electronic means, if so provided) no later than , 20 (the “Participant
Return Date”); provided that if the Participant dies before the Participant Return Date, this requirement shall be deemed to be satisfied if the executor or
administrator of the Participant’s estate executes and returns this Award Agreement to the Company or its designee no later than ninety days following the
Participant’s death (the “Executor Return Date”). If this Award Agreement is not so executed and returned on or prior to the Participant Return Date or the
Executor Return Date, as applicable, the Restricted Stock evidenced by this Award Agreement shall be forfeited, and neither the Participant nor the
Participant’s heirs, executors, administrators and successors shall have any rights with respect thereto.
 

8.        No Right to Continued Employment or Service. Nothing in this Award Agreement or the Plan shall interfere with or limit in any way the
right of the Company or its Subsidiaries to terminate the Participant’s employment, nor confer upon the Participant any right to continuance of employment by
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or continuance of service as a Board member.
 

9.        Acceleration of Vesting Date. The Committee may accelerate the Vesting Date or Dates as set forth in this Award Agreement in its sole
discretion.
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10.       Withholding of Taxes. Prior to the delivery to the Participant (or the Participant’s estate, if applicable) of a stock certificate or evidence of

book entry Shares with respect to Restricted Stock in respect of which all restrictions have lapsed, the Participant (or the Participant’s estate) shall pay to the
Company the federal, state and local income taxes and other amounts as may be required by law to be withheld by the Company (the “Withholding Taxes”)
with respect to such Restricted Stock. By executing and returning this Award Agreement in the manner provided in Section 7, the Participant (or the
Participant’s estate) shall be deemed to elect to have the Company withhold a portion of such Restricted Stock having an aggregate Fair Market Value equal to
the Withholding Taxes in satisfaction of the Withholding Taxes, such election to continue in effect until the Participant (or the Participant’s estate) notifies the
Company before such delivery that the Participant (or the Participant’s estate) shall satisfy such obligation in cash, in which event the Company shall not
withhold a portion of such Restricted Stock as otherwise provided in this Section 10.
 

11.       Participant Bound by the Plan. The Participant acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Plan and agrees to be bound by all the terms and
provisions thereof.
 

12.       Modification of Agreement. This Award Agreement may be modified, amended, suspended or terminated, and any terms or conditions may be
waived, but only by a written instrument executed by the parties to this Award Agreement.
 

13.       Severability. Should any provision of this Award Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable or invalid for
any reason, the remaining provisions of this Award Agreement shall not be affected by such holding and shall continue in full force in accordance with their
terms.
 

14.       Governing Law. The validity, interpretation, construction and performance of this Award Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the
State of Delaware without giving effect to the conflicts of laws principles thereof.
 

15.       Successors in Interest. This Award Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon any successor to the Company. This Award
Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the Participant’s legal representatives. All obligations imposed upon the Participant and all rights granted to the
Company under this Award Agreement shall be binding upon the Participant’s heirs, executors, administrators and successors.
 

16.       Resolution of Disputes. Any dispute or disagreement which may arise under, or as a result of, or in any way relate to, the interpretation,
construction or application of this Award Agreement shall be determined by the Committee. Any determination made under this Award Agreement shall be
final, binding and conclusive on the Participant, the Participant’s heirs, executors, administrators and successors, and the Company and its Subsidiaries for all
purposes.
 

17.       Entire Agreement. This Award Agreement and the terms and conditions of the Plan constitute the entire understanding between the Participant
and the Company and its Subsidiaries, and supersede all other agreements, whether written or oral, with respect to the Award.
 

18.       Headings. The headings of this Award Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute a part of this Award Agreement.
 

19.       Counterparts. This Award Agreement may be executed simultaneously in two or more counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original,
but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.
 

20.       Shareholder Approval. The effectiveness of this Award Agreement and of the grant of the Award pursuant the Award Agreement is subject to
the approval of the Plan by the stockholders of the Company in accordance with the terms of the Plan.
 

[Signature Page Follows]
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INTRUSION, INC.

 
Name: Kimberly Pinson
Title: Chief Financial Officer

 
Acknowledged and Agreed
 
[[SIGNATURE_DATE]]
 
[[SIGNATURE]]
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EXHIBIT 10.19
 

INTRUSION INC.
2021 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN

 
NON-QUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AWARD NOTICE

 
Participant has been granted a Non-Qualified Stock Option in accordance with the terms set forth in this Award Notice, and subject to the terms and conditions
of the Plan and the Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement to which this Award Notice is attached. Capitalized terms used and not defined in this Award Notice
have the meanings set forth in the Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement and the Plan.

 
 

Participant Name Number of Shares Awarded   Price per Share at Date of Grant   Grant Date
             

[[FIRSTNAME]]   [[SHARESGRANTED]]   [[GRANTPRICE]]   [[GRANTDATE]]
[[LASTNAME]]            
 
 
Vesting Schedule
[[ALLVESTSEGS]]
 
Vesting of the Option as specified in the chart above is subject to Participant’s continued employment or service through the applicable vesting date. If the
number of Shares is not evenly divisible by [ ], then no fractional Share will vest and the installments will be as equal as possible with the smaller
installment(s) vesting first. Each such right of purchase will be cumulative and will continue, unless sooner exercised or terminated during the remaining period
of the Option Period.
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INTRUSION INC.

2021 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN
 

NON-QUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
 

THIS NON-QUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), effective as of the Date of Grant (as defined in the Award Notice), is
between INTRUSION INC., a Delaware corporation (together with its successors and assigns, the “Company”), and the individual listed in the Award Notice
as the Participant. Capitalized terms have the meaning set forth in Section 1, or, if not otherwise defined herein, in the INTRUSION INC. 2021 OMNIBUS
INCENTIVE PLAN (as it may be amended, the “Plan”).
 

WHEREAS, the Company has adopted the Plan to provide additional incentives to certain employees and directors of the Company and its Affiliates;
and
 

WHEREAS, the Committee has determined to grant to the Participant a Non-Qualified Stock Option to encourage the Participant’s efforts toward the
continuing success of the Company.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:
 

1.  Definitions. The following terms have the following meanings for purposes of this Agreement:
 

(a)  “Award Notice” means the notice pursuant to which Participant was granted the Option.
 

(b) “Exercise Price” means the Exercise Price listed in the Award Notice.
 
(c) “Officer” means “officer” as defined under Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act.

 
(d) “Participant” means the Participant listed in the Award Notice.

 
(e)  “Shares” means the number of shares of Common Stock listed in the Award Notice as “Number of Shares Subject to Option”, as adjusted in

accordance with the Plan.
 

2. Grant of Option.
 

(a)  Effective as of the Date of Grant, the Company irrevocably grants to Participant the right and option (the “Option”) to purchase all or any part of
the Shares, subject to and in accordance with the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in the Plan, the Award Notice, and this Agreement. The Option will
vest in accordance with the schedule set forth on the Award Notice. Any fractional Share underlying the Option shall be settled in cash within two and one-half
(2½) months from the Date of Grant.
 

(b)  The Option is not intended to qualify as an Incentive Stock Option within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code.
 

(c)  This Agreement will be construed in accordance and consistent with, and subject to, the terms of the Plan (the provisions of which are
incorporated by reference). In the event of any conflict between one or more of this Agreement, the Award Notice and the Plan, the Plan will govern this
Agreement and the Award Notice, and this Agreement (to the extent not in conflict with the Plan) will govern the Award Notice.
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3.  Exercise Price. The price at which Participant will be entitled to purchase the Shares upon the exercise of the Option will be the Exercise Price per

Share, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4 and Section 11.
 

4. Exercisability of Option. The Option will become vested and exercisable in accordance with the schedule set forth on the Award
Notice.

 
5. Duration of Option. The Option will be exercisable to the extent and in the manner provided in this Agreement for a period of ten (10) years from

the Date of Grant (the “Option Period”); provided, that the Option may be earlier terminated as provided in Section 7.
 

6. Manner of Exercise and Payment.
 

(a)  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan, the Option may be exercised by delivery of written or electronic notice to the
Company in the manner prescribed in Section 6(d) of the Plan and as otherwise set forth by the Committee from time to time, including the payment provisions
set forth in Section 6(d)(iv) of the Plan. Such notice will set forth the number of Shares in respect of which the Option is being exercised and will be signed by
the person or persons exercising the Option. In the event the Company has designated an Award Administrator (as defined below), the Option may also be
exercised by giving notice (including through electronic means) in accordance with the procedures established from time to time by the Award Administrator.
Any exercisable portion of the Option or the entire Option, if then wholly exercisable, may be exercised in whole or in part, provided that partial exercise will
be for whole Shares only.
 

(b)  Upon exercise of the Option pursuant to Section 6(a), unless otherwise determined by the Committee, the Company will withhold a number of
Shares otherwise deliverable to Participant to pay (i) the full purchase price for the Shares in respect of which the Option is being exercised and (ii) an amount
necessary to satisfy applicable U.S. and non-U.S. Federal, state or local tax or other withholding requirements, if any (“Withholding Taxes”) in accordance with
Section 14(d) of the Plan (or, if Participant is subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act at such time, such amount which would not result in adverse
consequences under GAAP), unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Participant and the Company. The number of Shares to be withheld or otherwise used for
payment will be calculated using the closing price per Share on the principal exchange on which the Shares then trade) on the date of determination, and will be
rounded up to the nearest whole Share.
 

(c)  Upon receipt of the notice of exercise and any payment or other documentation as may be necessary pursuant to Sections 6(a) and 6(b) relating to
the Shares in respect of which the Option is being exercised, the Company will, subject to the Plan and this Agreement, take such action as may be necessary to
effect the transfer to Participant of the number of Shares as to which such exercise was effective.
 

(d)  Participant will not be deemed to be the holder of, or to have any of the rights and privileges of a stockholder of the Company (including the right
to vote or receive dividends) in respect of, Shares purchased upon exercise of the Option until (i) the Option has been exercised pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement and Participant has paid the full purchase price for the number of Shares in respect of which the Option was exercised and any applicable
Withholding Taxes and (ii) the Company has issued the Shares in connection with such exercise. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise determined
by the Committee, Participant may otherwise elect to make all or a portion of such payments in cash, check, cash equivalent, and/or Shares, or as provided in
Section 14(d) of the Plan.
 

7. Termination of Employment or Service.
 

(a)  Except as provided below in this section, if a Participant incurs a Termination for any reason, any unvested portion of the Option will be forfeited
and all of Participant’s rights under this Agreement will terminate as of the effective date of Termination (the “Termination Date”) (unless otherwise provided
for by the Committee in accordance with the Plan).
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(b)  If a Participant’s Termination is voluntary (other than a voluntary termination described in Section 7(d) below, all Stock Options that are held by

such Participant that are vested and exercisable at the time of the Participant’s Termination may be exercised by the Participant at any time within a period of
90 days from the date of such Termination, but in no event beyond the expiration of the stated term of such Stock Options.
 

(c)  If a Participant’s Termination is by reason of death or Disability, all Stock Options that are held by such Participant that are vested and exercisable
at the time of the Participant’s Termination may be exercised by the Participant (or in the case of the Participant’s death, by the legal representative of the
Participant’s estate) at any time within a period of one year from the date of such Termination, but in no event beyond the expiration of the stated term of such
Stock Options; provided, however, that, in the event of a Participant’s Termination by reason of Disability, if the Participant dies within such exercise period,
all unexercised Stock Options held by such Participant shall be exercisable, to the extent to which they were exercisable at the time of death, for a period of one
year from the date of such death, but in no event beyond the expiration of the stated term of such Stock Options.
 

(d)  If a Participant’s Termination is for Cause or is a voluntary termination after the occurrence of an event that would be grounds for a Termination
for Cause, the vested and unvested portions of the Option will terminate as of the Termination Date.
 

(e)  A Participant’s rights with respect to the Option will not be affected by any change in the nature of Participant’s employment or service so long as
Participant continues to be an employee or service provider of the Company or its Affiliates. Whether (and the circumstances under which) employment or
service has terminated and the determination of the Termination Date for the purposes of this Agreement will be determined by the Committee (or, with respect
to any Participant who is not a director or Officer, its designee, whose good faith determination will be final, binding and conclusive; provided, that such
designee may not make any such determination with respect to the designee’s own employment or service for purposes of the Option).
 

8.  Restrictions on Transfer. Participant may not assign, alienate, pledge, attach, sell or otherwise transfer or encumber the Option or Participant’s
right under the Option to receive Shares, other than to Permitted Transferees as may be permitted by the Committee from time to time in accordance with
applicable laws and Section 14(e) of the Plan. Except as otherwise provided herein, no assignment or transfer of the Option, or of the rights represented
thereby, whether voluntary or involuntary, by operation of law or otherwise, shall vest in the assignee or transferee any interest or right herein whatsoever, but
immediately upon such assignment or transfer the Option shall terminate and become of no further effect.
 

9.  Repayment of Proceeds; Clawback Policy. The award granted in this Agreement and all proceeds related to the award are subject to the clawback
and repayment terms set forth in Section 14(t) of the Plan and the Company’s clawback policy, as in effect from time to time, to the extent Participant is a
director or Officer.
 

10.  No Right to Continued Employment or Engagement. Neither the Plan nor this Agreement nor Participant’s receipt of the award hereunder will
impose any obligation on the Company to continue the employment or engagement of Participant. Further, the Company may at any time terminate the
employment or engagement of Participant, free from any liability or claim under the Plan or this Agreement, except as otherwise expressly provided herein.
 

11.  Award Subject to Plan. The award granted under this Agreement is subject to the Plan and the terms of the Plan are incorporated into this
Agreement. By accepting the award, Participant acknowledges that Participant has received and read the Plan and agrees to be bound by the terms, conditions,
and restrictions set forth in the Plan, this Agreement, and the Company’s policies, as in effect from time to time, relating to the Plan. In the event of a conflict
between any term or provision contained herein and a term or provision of the Plan, the applicable terms and provisions of the Plan will govern and prevail.
 

12.  Severability. Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable or invalid for any reason,
the remaining provisions of this Agreement will not be affected by such holding and will continue in full force in accordance with their terms.
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13.  Governing Law; Venue; Language. This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of

Delaware applicable to contracts made and performed wholly within the State of Delaware, without giving effect to the conflict of laws provisions thereof. Any
suit, action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement (or any provision incorporated by reference), or any judgment entered by any court in respect of any
thereof, will be brought in any court of competent jurisdiction in the State of Delaware or the State of Texas, and each of Participant, the Company, and any
Permitted Transferees who hold a portion of the award pursuant to a valid assignment, hereby submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts for the
purpose of any such suit, action, proceeding, or judgment. Each of Participant, the Company, and any Permitted Transferees who hold a portion of the award
pursuant to a valid assignment hereby irrevocably waives (a) any objections which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any suit, action,
or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement brought in any court of competent jurisdiction in the State of Delaware or the State of Texas, (b) any
claim that any such suit, action, or proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in any inconvenient forum and (c) any right to a jury trial. If
Participant has received a copy of this Agreement (or the Plan or any other document related hereto or thereto) translated into a language other than English,
such translated copy is qualified in its entirety by reference to the English version thereof, and in the event of any conflict the English version will govern.
Participant acknowledges that Participant is sufficiently proficient in English to understand the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
 

14. Successors in Interest. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon any successor to the Company. This Agreement shall inure
to the benefit of the Participant’s legal representatives. All obligations imposed upon the Participant and all rights granted to the Company under this
Agreement shall be binding upon the Participant’s heirs, executors, administrators and successors.
 

15. Data Privacy Acknowledgement.
 

(a)  General. Participant acknowledges and agrees to the collection, use and transfer, in electronic or other form, of Participant’s personal data as
described in this Agreement and any other award materials by and among, as applicable, Participant’s employer or contracting party (the “Employer”) and the
Company for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing Participant’s participation in the Plan. Participant understands that the
Company may hold certain personal information about Participant, including, but not limited to, Participant’s name, home address, email address and telephone
number, work location and phone number, date of birth, social insurance number, passport or other identification number, salary, nationality, job title, hire date,
any shares of stock or directorships held in the Company, details of all awards or any other entitlement to shares awarded, cancelled, exercised, vested,
unvested or outstanding in Participant’s favor, for the purpose of implementing, administering and managing Participant’s participation in the Plan (“Personal
Data”).
 

(b)  Use of Personal Data; Retention. Participant understands that Personal Data may be transferred to any third parties assisting in the
implementation, administration and management of the Plan, now or in the future, that these recipients may be located in Participant’s country or elsewhere,
and that a recipient’s country may have different data privacy laws and protections than Participant’s country. Participant understands that Participant may
request a list with the names and addresses of any potential recipients of the Personal Data by contacting Participant’s local human resources representative.
Participant authorizes the recipients to receive, possess, use, retain and transfer the Personal Data, in electronic or other form, for the purposes of
implementing, administering and managing Participant’s participation in the Plan. Participant understands that Personal Data will be held only as long as is
necessary to implement, administer and manage Participant’s participation in the Plan. Participant understands that Participant may, at any time, view Personal
Data, request additional information about the storage and processing of Personal Data, require any necessary amendments to Personal Data or refuse or
withdraw the consents herein, in any case without cost, by contacting in writing Participant’s local human resources representative.
 

(c)  Withdrawal of Consent. Participant understands that Participant is providing the consents herein on a purely voluntary basis. If Participant does
not consent, or if Participant later seeks to revoke Participant’s consent, Participant’s employment status or service with the Employer will not be affected; the
only consequence of Participant’s refusing or withdrawing Participant’s consent is that the Company would not be able to grant options or other equity awards
to Participant or administer or maintain such awards. Therefore, Participant understands that refusing or withdrawing Participant’s consent may affect
Participant’s ability to participate in the Plan. For more information on the consequences of Participant’s refusal to consent or withdrawal of consent,
Participant understands that Participant may contact Participant’s local human resources representative.
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16.    Limitation on Rights; No Right to Future Grants; Extraordinary Item of Compensation. By accepting this Agreement and the grant of the

award evidenced hereby, Participant expressly acknowledges that (a) the Plan is established voluntarily by the Company, it is discretionary in nature and may
be suspended or terminated by the Company at any time to the extent permitted by the Plan; (b) the grant of the award is exceptional, voluntary and occasional
and it does not create any contractual or other right to receive future grants of awards, or benefits; (c) all determinations with respect to future award grants, if
any, will be at the sole discretion of the Company; (d) Participant’s participation in the Plan is voluntary and not a condition of employment or service, and
Participant may decline to accept the award without adverse consequences to Participant’s continued employment or service relationship with the Company or
its Affiliates; (e) the value of the award is an extraordinary item that is outside the scope of Participant’s employment or service contract, if any, and nothing
can or must automatically be inferred from such employment or service contract or its consequences; (f) awards and any shares acquired under the Plan, and
the income from and value of same, are not part of normal or expected compensation for any purpose and are not to be used for calculating any severance,
resignation, redundancy, end of service payments, bonuses, long-service awards, pension or retirement benefits or similar payments, Participant waives any
claim on such basis and, for the avoidance of doubt, the award will not constitute an “acquired right” under the applicable law of any jurisdiction; (g) the future
value of the underlying shares is unknown and cannot be predicted with certainty. In addition, Participant understands, acknowledges and agrees that
Participant will have no rights to compensation or damages related to award proceeds in consequence of Participant’s Termination for any reason whatsoever
and whether or not in breach of contract.

 
17.  Award Administrator. The Company may from time to time designate a third party (an “Award Administrator”) to assist the Company in the

implementation, administration and management of the Plan and any awards granted thereunder, including by sending award notices on behalf of the Company
to Participants, and by facilitating through electronic means acceptance of Agreement by Participants and Option exercises by Participants.
 

18.  Book Entry Delivery of Shares. Whenever reference in this Agreement is made to the issuance or delivery of certificates representing one or
more shares, the Company may elect to issue or deliver such shares in book entry form in lieu of certificates.
 

19.  Electronic Delivery and Acceptance. This Agreement may be executed electronically and in counterparts. The Company may, in its sole
discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to the Plan by electronic means. Participant consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and
agrees to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the
Company.
 

20.  Acceptance and Agreement by Participant; Forfeiture upon Failure to Accept. Participant’s rights under the award will lapse ninety (90) days
from the Date of Grant, and the award will be forfeited on such date if Participant will not have accepted this Agreement by such date. For the avoidance of
doubt, Participant’s failure to accept this Agreement will not affect Participant’s continuing obligations under any other agreement between the Company and
Participant.
 

21.  Modification of Agreement. This Agreement may be modified, amended, suspended or terminated, and any terms or conditions may be waived,
but only by a written instrument executed by the parties to this Agreement.
 

22.  No Advice Regarding Grant. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Participant acknowledges and agrees that the Company is not
providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is the Company making any recommendations regarding Participant’s participation in the Plan, or Participant’s
acquisition or sale of the underlying shares. Participant is advised to consult with Participant’s own personal tax, legal and financial advisors regarding
Participant’s participation in the Plan before taking any action related to the Plan.
 

23.  Imposition of Other Requirements. The Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on Participant’s participation in the Plan, on
the award and on any shares acquired under the Plan, to the extent the Company determines it is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and
to require Participant to sign any additional agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing.
 

24.  Waiver. Participant acknowledges that a waiver by the Company of breach of any provision of this Agreement will not operate or be construed as
a waiver of any other provision of this Agreement, or of any subsequent breach by Participant or any other participant in the Plan.
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25.  Notices. Any notice necessary under this Agreement shall be addressed to the Company in care of its Corporate Secretary at the principal

executive office of the Company and to Participant at the address appearing in the personnel records of the Company for such Participant or to either party at
such other address as either party hereto may hereafter designate in writing to the other. Any such notice shall be deemed effective upon receipt thereof by the
addressee.
 

26.  Resolution of Disputes. Any dispute or disagreement which may arise under, or as a result of, or in any way relate to, the interpretation,
construction or application of this Agreement shall be determined by the Committee. Any determination made under this Agreement shall be final, binding and
conclusive on the Participant, the Participant’s heirs, executors, administrators and successors, and the Company and its Affiliates for all purposes.
 

27.  Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the terms and conditions of the Plan constitute the entire understanding between the Participant and the
Company and its Affiliates, and supersede all other agreements, whether written or oral, with respect to the Award.
 

28.   Headings. The headings of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute a part of this Agreement.
 

29.  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed simultaneously in two or more counterparts, each of which shall constitute an original, but all of
which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.
 

30.  Stockholder Approval. The effectiveness of this Agreement and of the grant of the Award pursuant the Agreement is subject to the approval of
the Plan by the stockholders of the Company in accordance with the terms of the Plan.
 
 

[Signature Page Follows]
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INTRUSION, INC.
 
Name: Kimberly Pinson
Title: Chief Financial Officer

 
 
 
Acknowledged and Agreed as of the
 
[[SIGNATURE]]
 
[[SIGNATURE_DATE]]
 
 
 
[[FIRSTNAME]] [[LASTNAME]]
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EXHIBIT 21
 

Intrusion Inc. and Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

 
The following table lists the subsidiaries of the Registrant as of December 31, 2022, the state or other jurisdiction of incorporation and the names under which
such subsidiaries do business. The Registrant owns all of the outstanding voting securities of each subsidiary.
 

Name of Subsidiary   Jurisdiction   Name under which doing business
         

Intrusion.com GmbH   Germany   Intrusion Inc.
 



EXHIBIT 23.1
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (File No. 333-258491) and Form S-8 (File Nos. 333-125816, 333-
167577 and 333-224810) of our report dated March 31, 2023 relating to the consolidated financial statements of Intrusion Inc. appearing in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K of Intrusion, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2022.
 
/s/ Whitley Penn LLP
 
Dallas, Texas
March 31, 2023



EXHIBIT 31.1
 

I, Anthony Scott, Chief Executive Officer of Intrusion Inc., certify that:
 
  (1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Intrusion Inc.:
 

 
(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

  (3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

 
(4) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or cause such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principals;

 

  (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

  (5) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

  (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

  (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

 
 

Date: March 31, 2023 /s/ Anthony Scott  
  Anthony Scott
  Chief Executive Officer

 
 

 
 



EXHIBIT 31.2
 

I, Kimberly Pinson, Chief Financial Officer of Intrusion Inc., certify that:
 

  (1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Intrusion Inc.:
 

 
(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

  (3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

 
(4) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f))for the registrant and have:

 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or cause such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principals;

 

  (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

  (5) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 

  (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

  (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

 
 

Date: March 31, 2023 /s/ Kimberly Pinson  
  Kimberly Pinson
  Chief Financial Officer
 
 
 
 



EXHIBIT 32.1
 
 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ENACTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
In connection with the Annual Report of Intrusion Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Anthony Scott, Chief Executive Officer of the Company certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as enacted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 
March 31, 2023 /s/ Anthony Scott  
  Anthony Scott
  Chief Executive Officer

 
 

 
 



EXHIBIT 32.2
 
 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ENACTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
In connection with the Annual Report of Intrusion Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2022, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Kimberly Pinson, Chief Financial Officer of the Company certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as enacted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 

March 31, 2023 /s/ Kimberly Pinson  
  Kimberly Pinson
  Chief Financial Officer
 


